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PREFACE

This book is based on notes collected by a lay reader, who
during the relaxed period after active medical service, has
interested himself in the study of the antiquity of Ceylon Tamils.
Although the contents of this book are brought together from
various historical sources, this monograph is not presented to
the public as a ¢“Book on History”, fitting in with the considered
opinion of Dr. G. C. Mendis that ‘‘A history is not an antiquarian
study’’. The word “History’" is complicated in modern times with
different definitions, and considered decades ago as a dull subject
packed with details of dates, dynasties and dissensions among

é:ple, with hardly any reference to the underlying forces whose

#@pressures affect men and their actions, has a more interesting aspect
urnished paradoxically by it own deficiencies and .uncertainties.
Gaps and_ problems of the origin of men and matters have
attracted t’he’iprescnt day scholars towards this field. It is their
discussions ranging from varying interpretations to speculatiois
which have modernised the science of history in relation to
%eylon, making it a lively and fascinating subject. Dr. A.
“Briggs, Professor of History and Social studies, University of
Sussex remarked . aptly, (1957) that some people described this subject
as a conjectural science. Legends are not discarded for the one
r.ason that they serve a useful purpose in portraying the thoughts
and cultural level of those to whom they belonged. Observations
of scholarly writers from the seventeenth century onwards are
laced objectively in their appropriate positions without interfering
with the author’s right to draw his own inferences. Different
versions of the same events are faithfully juxtaposed.

As to the second part of this book, the Tamils of Ceylon
have left hardly any written record of their past to posterity.
While the story of the Dravidian race has now been to an extent
reconstructed with the aid of the present European sciences like
Archaeology, Epigraphy, Ethnology, Philology etc., the Tawmils of
Ceylon have not so far received such attention.

The Yalpana Vaipava Malai (Y. V. M. - Garland of Jafina
History) composed in Tamil in 1736 by Mailvagana Pulavar of
Mathagal, Jaffna, on the direction of the Dutch Governor of
Jaffna, Jan Maccara, in spite of its shortcomings in some dates
and events, is an oasis in the barren desert of Jaffna history.
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Its translation into English in 1879 by C. Brito along with
his own appendix, likened to a white string of pure pearls for
simplicity of expression and nicety of description, has provided the
writer with the background to Part II of this work.

The above record is itself based on historical literature of
earlier periods, such as:-

.l

1. «Dakshina—Kailaya—Puranam’’, (a religious work), “Sekeraja- 2
seckeram” (a book on medicine) and ¢Sekerajasekera Malai’’
(astrology), all of them published in the reign of the powerful
king, Jayaveera Aryachakravarti (1371 — 80).

A

2. *“Pararajasekeram Ulu’’ composed during the period of the
illustrious monarch, Pararajasekeram (1478 — 1519). e,
&=
3. “Vaiyapadal’’ written by Vaiyapuri Aiyar during Sangili’s
reign (1510 — 65). Scd

4. “Rasamurai’’, not extant now.

5. “Kailaya Malai’’* written in high Tamil in the reign of
Ethirimanasingam, by Mutturasar of Uraiyur. (c.1591).

As the writer went on developing his narrative, it bacame
clearer in his mind with every forward step taken, that the
Ceylon Tamils have made a greater contribution to the development
of Ceylon both physically and culturally than is generally realised.

There are two parts to this book.
Part 1. Tamils wh) have become Sinhailese.
Part 2. Tamils who have preserved their own cultural individuality.

Finally, the author expresses his grateful acknowledgment to
the following, the eminent authors mentioned in the bibliography
and index, the libraries of the Colombo Museum, the British
Council of Colombo, and the Colombo Public Library. Advocate
S. Canagarayar. and Professor K. Kularatnam are thanked
for the loan of some valuable books.

C. SIVARATNAM

Colombo.
24. June, 1968.
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PART 1

TAMILS ABSORBED INTO THE SINHALESE RACE.

I

Dravidian elements in the foundation structure of the
Sinhalese race.

When Vijaya Mannan arrived in Ceylon in ¢ 543 B. C., the
inhabitants of Ceylon were ‘“Yakkas’’ and ‘“Nagas’’ (demons and
dragons), both Dravidian sub-races. The Yakkas compared to the
rakshasas or giants, who were evil doers and sorcerers, were
cons dered good people. They lived in the central regions of
Ceylon, as in the hills and jungles of Kerala, Kannada and
North India, with whom Vijaya and his seven hundred followers
got enmeshed in marriage. The stronghold of the Nagas was
the northern and north western coasts of Ceylon particularly
Kadiramalai in Jaffna and Mantota. The Nagas named their home
country as Nagadipa (Tennent V ; P 331). The offsprings of the
Nagas with Jaffna princesses and people were the Lambakkanas
with bored, hanging ear lobes (N 81). The Naga royal families
of Jaffna and Anuradhapura were also inter-marrying. Anuradha-
pura was a populous and prosperous city at that time, to which
the Lambakkanas and Nagas gravitated probably driven away by
the poverty of the soil of Jaffna. Sir William Jones observed
that **Ila island was inhabited beyond time of memory by a
Hindu race as supported by the language, letters and old
monuments of its various inhabitants’> (XIVIII - Brito’s addendum
to Y. V. M). The Tissa kings like Devanampiya Tissa, Duttugamani
and Vattagamani, were partly of Naga origin. Vasabha a
Lambakkana resident of the Northern Province (N. 82.) became
the first Lambakkana king of ~Anuradhapura in about 65 A.C,
two centuries after Duttugamani’s reign. The illustrious Gajabahu I
(112 A.C.) a grandson of Vasabha, who brought the Pattini
cult to Ceylon from holy Malayalam, merried a Naga princess
of Jaffna, sister of Mahalla-Naga. He did not forget his home
country, where he built a temple for Pattini in Jaffna. Ilanaga
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married a Tamil princess, Damiladevi. Nagas ruled at Anuradha-
pura before and after the birth of Christ. Duttugamani was a
son of a Naga princess of Kalyani and a descendant of Mahanaga,
a younger brother of Devanampiya Tissa. The Lambakkana dypasty
ruled over Ceylon from about 65 A.C. for over thousand
years up to the time of the Chola invasions, though the later
rulers were more Sinhalese than otherwise just retaining the name
of the origin of their dynasty.

Names of Ceylon

It is generally admitted that the name of Ceylon owes its
philological origin to ¢Elu’’, the name of the language of the
Nagas in the following sequence :- Elu-Ila - Helu - Hela - Si-
hala (“S1’’ wasadded as prefix in honour of the traditional
lion) and finally Sinhala. Another explanation of Sihela is the
commemoration of ‘Siha’’ lion, hela (destruction of) by Sinhabahu,
founder of the Sinhalese race. ¢«Lanka” again arises from Elu :-
Ela, Ilam (gold) and Ilankai, both the latter according to Brito
are pure Tamil words (XLVIII), which became in Sinhalese,
Lanka. According to Casie Chitty the meaning of “Eelam’’ is
‘insular - kingdom’* (P 29), or land surrounded by water, and
that Lanka as a Sanskrit word conveyed the meaning ¢“Holy or
Resplendent” and Lanka in Ramayana may have possessed this
meaning.

C. Suntheralingam’s opinion, backed by philological history,
is that ‘“Ceylon” <Lanka’’ and Sinhalese’” have a common
origin in the Thamil name of this island “Eylom’ (meaning gold
or anything bright), and “Ceylon’’ is, mentioned in the Pattinapalai
of the Sangam period (2-4 A.D.) as “Eylom’’.

“Ceylon’’ and ‘Sinhalese’’ arose with the addition of a prefix
of honorofic significance, 8 I or C I or Siri or Ciri to Eylom’’,

(i) Ceylon. Eylom - C - Eylom or Sri- Eylom (wealthy or respect-
able) transliterated by the Portuguese of later days as
Ceylam, Zeylom (Barros, Ceilam), take note here that
the terminal “m’’ was preserved up to ‘the Ilast,
revealing the Tamil origin of the name of Ceylon
the “m’’ droppedfor “n’’ in the anglicised nomencla-
ture, Ceylon.
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(i) Sinhalese. Ilam (Eylom) ~> S = Ilam —> Sihalam —>
Sihala —> Sinhala —> now Sinhalese.

(iii) Lanka, Again arose from Eylom (Ilam) with the combina-
tion of two Tamil words (Eylom) and Kai) -
llankai, Lankai (both Tamil), at present Lanka,

Taprobane is a Greek name that originated from ‘“Tambapani’’
(copper palmed) from the colour of the soil on which Vijaya’s
followers pressed their palms as support, while landing out of
their boats and sat themselves. Every name has also, as you
will se¢ an alternative meaning, that Tambapani was derived from the
hame of the river in the Pandya kingdom, Tamparaparani,
whose water is also copper coloured. Tambrapani and Langka
are mentioned as equivalents for Ceylon, in Tennent’s map of
Ceylon (V 1, P 318). Ceylon was known in the 4th
century B.C. as Taprobane to Magasthenes, the Greek ambassador
to the Court of Chandragupta.

Serendib-An Arab name (supposed to be derived from Sihala-dipa)
an alternative explanation is from Seren—diva (Chera or Sera)
named by the Nagas who emigrated from Chera into
Ceylon, or the Arabs who came to settle down from Chera
Kerala) in Ceylon.

Other Place Name.
1. Nagadipa is a name given by the Nagas themsclves to
theit country situated on the north and north western
parts of Ceylen (Jaffna), (Tennent V 1, P 331).

2. Manipallavam (outstretched bough) is the name of the
Jaffna peninsula which leoked like an outstretched bough
to the sight of the mariners of Palk Strait. (V p3).

3. Mannar (XXXII). Mannar took its name from the verb
‘“mannukirathu’’ which means ¢to tuck up one’s clothes’’
from the circumstance that the women of the place did
so and got into water in their haste to follow Rama when
he crossed over to the mainland of Ceylon.

4. Munneswaram, from Mun (Shrine) and Ishwara (Siva)
(Arunachalam)

S. “Tamra—Pani” may be the origin of the word “Tamil”.
(Simon Casie Chitty.) :



Sri - Vijaya Civilization

«The civilization or Ceylon up to the arrival of the Portuguese
was influenced by India. The early Sinbalese and Tamils came
from India and the people who came to Ceylon lived more or
less a type of lif: they had been living in India.’” (Horace Perera
P 10)  “The first point to be remembered then is that from
the very beginning, Ceylon formed a unit of Indian civilisation®’
(Mendis, Ceylon P 28.)

The people of Magadha desired the instant death of Vijaya
and his seven hundred cruel brigands, but the king expatriated
them adrift on the ocean as punishment, firstly disgracing them
by causing half of their heads to be shaved. People who were
in this way pushed out from their country were not allowed to
take their wives, children or servants with them, and were shut
off from their parent country without any communication (LV).
Vijaya whilst stranded in Lanka in 543 B. C. had no alternative
but to marry the queen of the Yakkas in order to strengthen
his position on the throne of Lanka, and when this objective
was achieved he promptly chased away Kuveni to the horrible
mercy of her people. According to one authority Vijaya is said
to have landed at Periyathurai near Trincomalee (LIV). When the
time for coronation arrived, Vijaya refused to be consecrated
unless he was married to a lady of equal rank. The ministers
therefore sent emissaries to the nearest kingdom, ‘‘to the city
of Madura of South India (Geiger’s MV 1960. P 59), for the
daughter of the Pandya King and 699 noble maidens for Vijaya’s
camp followers.’” These invitees were not people of Mathura
on the Ganges in North India, and the Pandyans were not the
Pandavas of Mahabharata, They all landed at Mahatittha, the
nearest port from their country, (meaning ‘“the great landing
place’” (Mv60) which name was given to it in honour’ of this
historic event), with 18 officers of state, 75 menial servants,
horse keepers, elephant keepers, charioteers etc, male and female
servants and slaves for all, their wives and children, with their
jewellery and other appurtenances, a tand of craftsmen, a
thousand families of 18 guilds everything to maintain the
princess’ dignity. In other words, they brought in massive form,
Madura civilization and introduced it into Lanka.
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Mud!r. W. P. Gunawardhana (quoted by K. Navaratnam P 54)
states ‘*The Sinhalese are a composite race with three elements in
their composition, viz., the aboriginals (Yakkas and Nagas), a Pandian
contingent which was Tamil and Vijaya’s contingent (Aryan)
Mendis® view (P 28 is that “Vijaya’s contingent was not Aryan
in blood as they were totemistic, but Aryan in speech only."
Geiger (P 19) referring to these Madura invitees, remarks «that
a strong infusion of Dravidian blood must have taken place in
the first period of colonization, from the nearest civilised country’’,

The Sinbalese kingdom began and ended with Madura
culture, their last four kings as weil, had been pure Tamils of
Madura., <The Yakkas gradually lost their jdentity forming
marriage alliances with the new settlers wherewith they styled
themselves as Sinhalese and are Sinhalese now’’, (“‘Story of the
Sinhalese’” - John Seneveratna P 5). <‘Intimate intercourse and con-
sanguinity were thusestablished from the remotest period’’. Now
what about the further inflow of Tamil blood into the Sinhalese race
for a couple of thousand years? ‘‘Sinhalese nation is of mixed
tiood in which is incorporated the remnants of the original
inhabitants and a strong strain of Tamil. Tamil contribution
tefore Chola invasions is due to subtle nature of Tamil influence’’,
{(Still P 20.) “These facts swell the number of the original
Tamil colonists to at least twenty times that of the Magadhi
settlers (LV), and it must be borne in mind that the way once
made for these colonists was kept open, by a communication
which Vijaya carried on with Madura during his whole reign
of 38 years. Such a communication could not have failed to lead
to a continual influx of the Tamils from the continent in his
and the succeeding reigns. On the other hand there was no
communication with Bihar, and for obvious reasons (Brito LV).
The Sinhalese race sprang from a mixture of the Magadhi and
Tamil blood, in the proportion of 1 Magadhi to 20 Tamil,
and this mixed race had been receiving and absorbing into it-
self, for a period of two thousand four hundred years a continuous
stream of fresh blood, to the almost entire exclusion of the
Magadhi. Now there may be philological or other reasons to
lead to a different conclusion, it is not our province to
investigate.’’ (Brito LXXXI).



After the death of Vijaya there was a small accession of
Indo—Aryan blood with the arrival of Vasudeva, a nephew of
Vijaya as king in 504 B.C with his 32 companions and 32
companions of his consort, These people however married within
theit own fold not to be polluted with local blood. A Brahmin
purohita ruled for one year between the reigns of Vasudeva and
Pandukabhaya, both these kings were Saivites. Vijaya himself was
a Saivite who built Siva—alayams in the four quarters of Ceylon
for protection of his infant kingdom (Y.V M.~ P 3), so also
were the anciert Yakkas and Nagas (demons and dragons), demon
and Sivalingam worshippers.

Pandukabhaya (437 B.C,), grandson of Vasudeva, Treccived
Hindu education from a Brahmin called Pandula at the
behest of his mother. It was he who founded the city of
Anuradhapura naming it after his benevolent uncle Anuradha.
«The process of coalscence once happily commefniced between
both the Hindu - Tamil and Magadhi settlers, continued until it
was interrupted by a religious commotion when Buddhism was
introduced into Ceylon’’, ‘‘and the Tamils from the continent
came to the host country which was now foreign in religion,
they consequently changed their character and became invaders
(LVIII).
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TAMIL INROADS INTO CEYLON

March of events in history follows a pattern and order, on the
other hand if it gets into collision with difficulties or impediments,
invariably frees itself from these situations by shaping itself
with a sense of direction to fit in with prevailing conditions,
or all these appear now to be so in retrospect.

Pre-Buddhist kingdom.

Saivaism was the religion of the land for the full period
of 236 years in the pre-Buddhist kingdom of Vijaya (LVIII),

“Upwards therefore of 200 years were spent in initiatory measures
for the organization of the new state, colonists from the con-
tinent of India were encouraged by the facilities beld out to
settlers’’, (Tennent I, 339). ‘‘Intimate intercourse and consan-
guinity were thus established from the remotest period, advent-
urers from the opposite coast were encouraged by the previous
settlers. High employments were thrown open to Malabars®’,
(Tennent V; , 395). “The process of coalescence once happily
commenced between the Tamil and Magadhi settlers, continued
until it was interfupted by a religious commotion when Buddhism
was introduced and established in Ceylon, (LVIII quotes Tennent
1, 33), <and the Tamils from the continent who had hitherto
been encouraged te become settlers, and who, when they arrived
became easily blended with the old settlers as long as the old
settlers followed Saivaism, now changed their character and became
invaders™, (LVIII).

The designations of ‘‘Malabars’’, “Choeli or Soli’> ard Damilos’’.

Before pursuing further on this subject, the above three
terms which occur with frequency in the old Sinhalese chronicles,
and copied later by the Portuguese, Dutch and British writers,
require clarification. (Ref. Tennent I, P 394 and V I, 353,
footnote 1 & 4) :-

‘““Malabars’” is a general epithet of Malabars rendered in
Pali as Damilos or Tamils, also were natives of places in India
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remote from that now known as Malabar’’, They were in-
habitants of the states of Pandya, Ramnad, Chera, Coromandel
coast and the countries on the banks of the river Cauvery, such
as Trichinapalli, Tanjore and Mysore. ‘‘The term Malabar is used in
the comprehensive sense in which it is applied in the Sinhalese
chronicles to the continental invaders of Ceylon, but it must be
observed that the adventurers in these expeditions who are styled
in the Mahavamsa <‘Damilos” or Tamils, came not only from
the south-western tract of the Dekkan, known in modern geography
as ‘‘Malabar’’ but also from all parts of the peninsula as far
north as Cuttack and Orissa. ¢“Chtola” or ““Soli’ was the ancient name
of Tanjore and the country traversed by the river ‘‘Cauvery’ and
also the Coromandal coasts

The word Damilos” in its extensive sense embraces not
merely the Tamils strictly so called, but even the Malayalee,
Telugu, Cannaress etc. ¢ Dravida (Dramila) and Tamil are identical
and equivalent” LII).

Aspects of migration.

From the point of view of immigration, the Tamils came
under two major categories. (No. 1) Soldiers & (No. 2) No
soldiers.

The soldiers were futher sub-differentiated into (a) invaders
and (b) mercenaries. the no—soldiers comprised mainly of innocent
immigrants, agriculturists, merchantmen and other such people
who came not through war, settlers who miigrated on summons
from princes who themselves had arrived earlier and entrenched
in this country. As examples, the Vanniars came to Ceylon in
the 5th century on an invitation from Prince Kulakkodan and
colonized Tambalakamam, because of their expertise in agriculture,
the colonists of Yalpani were brought down in the 9th century
because, again of their profession of agriculture, also settlements
of traders along the coast and harbours of Ceylon. The Ist
Aryachakravarti got down through the chieftains of south India,
Saiva or pious Vellalas passiouately attached equally to Saivaism
and agricultural pursuits. These latter people, more a conserva-
tive and less aggressive settlers, evolved in the security of their
splendid geographical isolation, their own culture, religion and
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language. Whereas the iavaders could not cross the barriesr of
hate engendered in the hearts of the Sinhalese for their con-
querors, the latter while able to enforce their culture could not
easily for the above reason mix up in blood with their subjects
or it was retarded, not so with the Tamil mercenaries who
arrived with the consent of ths host country and operated
through a millenium, adventurous and daring, and who penetrated
deep into Sinhalese villages and social structure, making marriage
alliances, mixed up with the blood of the Sinhalese, lost their
identity and are Sinhalese now, not consctous of their past
existence as Tamils or repugnant to this notion.

The remote necessity to seek help from neighbouring countries
arose from the tendency of the Sinhalese royal houses to engage
in dissensions and rivalries, which were not peculiar in medieval
times to Ceylon alone. Deposed kings, lawful claimants to the
throne, frusirated and ambitious princes crossed over to India,
some of them roamed widely ascetic like for several years,
collected Tamil armies and returned to Ceylon to fight their
own cause. The Tamil mercenarics were benefactors of the king
whom ‘hey had put on the throne, The king who was obliged
to them for his posiiion, had to show them special favours,
If he could not pay off their hire in cash and send them back
home, because of the bankruptcy of the king’s vault asa result of
recent wars, or if the mercenaries made up their mind to stay back
on their own, the king had no alternative but to accede to their
demands. These mercenaries were also useful to the king in
times of internal turmoil. Whilst some of these Tamils worked
their way up, to the position of ministers, king-makers or rulers,
others misdirected their inherent warlike qualities into a life of
outlawry, living on spoils. The king who owed his position to these
people had somewbat to overlook their misdeeds. Even a person
like Magha, the dreadful Tamil king who descended on Lanka
with a large Tamil army, could not penetrate the interior of the
country because of the presence here of such Tamil marauders,
remnants of armies brought in previous times,

Parakramabahu II after his victory over Magha, did not enter
Polonnaruva because of its occupation by such Tamil bandits. War,
profits and pillage and not blood ties were their motto The
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practice of bringing down Tamil armies from India began as early
as 42 A.D. with the Naga king Elana (Tamil), Ilanaga. Mercenaries
with time became a menace. Abhayanaga brother of the reigning
king Voharika Tissa (230 A.D.) (Wairatissa), brought a Tamil
army from India and ousted the ruler but asmight be expected
Ablkayanagn, the new king became a slave of his Tamil soldiers.
This Tamil army supported the Wytulian docirine (Vaitulya -
Vadins) against the national religion of Abhayanaga (LXVII).
The first king of the middle ages who went over to India to
fetch a Tamil army to gain his throne after deposing his brother
Kasyapa of Sigriya, was Dhatusena’s lawful son Moggallana
(495 A D.). Kasyapais a Hindu name which meant ¢‘worshipper
of Siva’’ (Casie Chitty).

Chronology of Events
Pre-Christian invasions.

The first such invaders ‘““who changed their character as
immigrants and became invaders’” were Sena and Guttaka, Elara
and probably Pancha-Dravidas, all of the pre-Christian era.
Their principal missions were apparently hinduisation of Ceylon
through influences of conquest and thereby to remove all obstacles
to the free flow of settlers from omne Hindu to another Hindu
country. While Sena and Guttaka were successful to soms extent
in reimposing Hinduism, Elara in spite of his <“disdain of
Buddhism’’ was not as much successful, Buddhism having been
by this time deeply implantsd in the hearts of the permanent
population. Elara, from a matter of policy supported Buddhism, to
safeguard his precarious position and prolong his reign to the
utmost possible length of time. The struggle uppermost in the
mind at this time was not so much between Tamil and Maghadite,
victory or defeat, as between Hinduism and Buddhism, not from
doctrinal differences btut for the Tamil, from consideration of
material interest—immigration. This argument is amply supported
by Duttugamani’s pronouncements. ‘‘Before marching against
Elara, he declared his object to be the restoration of the religion”:
and proclaimed in a]l seriousness and not merely to rouse the
<gemotions in his soldiers, “I fight not for domination but for
the sake of the religion of the Buddha’’ LXV). His foremost



activities afier victory were to er:ct the world famous Ruanwelle
Dagoba, the monastery of the Brazen Palace and other significant
Buddhist buildings. The Pancha-Dravidas who got into league
with the Brahmin rebel Tiya, the ruler of Ruhuna who had chased
away many Theros to the Andhra country, did invade perhaps
for the same purpose, whom Walgambahu (Vartagamani) finally
ousted. The latter destroyed Saivite temples and ordered the
Pitakataya (oral discourses by Mahinda ) to be put down in
writing ( LXVI),

Sena and Guttaka

Soon after the spread of Buddhism in Ceylon, two Tamil brothers
Sepa and Guttaks (237 B.C.) commonly called horse dealers>
in reality cavalry leaders, invaded with their cavalry, ousted
Suratissa, younger brother of Devanampiya Tissa and jointly
ruled Ceylon with justice for 22 years. They were Hindus
adberents to the faith ¢that water washes away sins’’ and in
order to perform their sacred ablutions without going far from
the palace, they diverted the Kadamba -nadi or Aruvi Aru
{ the upper reaches known as Malwathu Oya) now dried up, to
run by the city of Anuradhapura. Asela another younger brother
of Devanampiya Tissa vanquished these two Tamil kings and
ruled for 2 years. «The early success of these usurpers encouraged
the ambition of fresh aspirants’’ , (Tennent Vi, 395).

Elara or Elala (205 B. C.or 145 B C.)

A Chola prince and a Saivite of the illustrious Uja tribe,
came from Tanjore with an army fiom Mpysore (then called
Chola or Soli, Tennent I, 395) and Tamil speaking, wrested in
turn from Asela, the kingdom of Lanka. He administered justice
with impartiality to friends and foes and protected the Buddhist
priests. He was so just that the elements obeyed him and so
magnanimous that he disclaimed to make an attack without

giving the enemy, full intimation of his intentions, (LXIV)
quotes Knighton p 35). Elara’s reign lasted 44 years. Duttu-

gamani, a young prince and patriot, son of the king of Ruhuna
over- ruled the advice of his father not to get into trouble with
the Tamils ( that was how he earned the sobriquet (Duttha - wicked),
prerared a well organized invasion of Anuradhapura from Ruhuna,



12

defeated the aged Elara in personal combat and recovered Ceylon for
the Sinhalese. Duttugamani was chivalrous enough to cremate
Elara’s body with honours appropriate to a Chakravarti with an otder
for all music to be suspended when passing this tomb. This
injunction was found to be carried out as late as 1818 (T Vy, 354).

Pancha - Dravidas, (102 B.C.)

«They effected simultaneous descents at different points of the
coast, defeated Tiya a'young Brahmin usurper to the throne’’ (T. Vy.
396). The Pancha-Dravidas encouraged by this victory and
latter in league with Tiya, turned on Vattagamani’s army and
defeated it, Vattagamani being driven into concealment among
the mountains near Adam’s Peak (LXVI), one of the seven
Tamil leaders returned home earlier satisfied with the captured
Queen Somadevi as his prize, another leader went back with
the Bonapatraya ( bowl relic) as his share of victory. The
five remaining leaders succeeded each other, each killing his
predecessor and ruled in all for 24 years. Vattagamani finally
reconquered the country from Dathika, the last of these Tamil
rulers and restord Buddhism.

Coranaga (62 B.C.)

A rebellious son of Vattagamani was a Saivite, who destroyed
Buddhist temples and reversed the good religious policy of his
father. No sooner than he ascended the throne, he was poisoned
by his licentious queen Anula who succeeded him, later raising
to her bed and throne two Tamils, a carpenter and a Brahmin
priest named Niliya among her numerous other lovers (LXVI).

Post- Christian Wars

Hanaga (A.D 42.)

During the period of the first dynastic trial of strength
between the Lambakkanas and the Nagas Ilanaga a deposed king
escaped from prison to India and returned back after three years of
exile with a foreign army which had been mainly Jevied from among
the Tamils by means of which he regained his ancient throne
(LXVII), This is the first time that Tamil soldiers of foreign
origin were employed by a Ceylonese king. His son married a
Tamil princess, Damila-devi.
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3td Great Invasion - (A.D. 110.)

During the teign of Vankanasika (crooked-nosed) Tissa, son
of the first Lambakkana king Vasabha, the Chola king Karikal
(man with a charred leg due to accidental burns) invaded Ceylon
took away as captives about 12,000 Sinhalese families to construct

ths dykes of the Cauvery river in Mysore. The king’s son-

Gajabahu famed for the introduction of the Pattini cult into
Ceylon from Kerala, avenged this outrage by leading an expedit-
jon from Jaffnapatam and brought back not only the Sinhalese
but also a multitude of Choleans whom the king established
in lands in Alutkuru Korale where the Malabar features are
thought to be discernible to the present day (T V;, 397). This
incident is said to be not mentioned in the Mahavamsa but in

the Rajavali. (Casie Chitty P 2) considers them as s«fishers™

from Coromandel coast. He also populated Harispattu and
Tumpane in the Kandyan district, and districts in Kurunagala
with these Tamil prisoners. Gajabahu's triumph is commemorated
by an yearly perahera, which is now continued by the Dalada
Maligwa at Kandy, at this festival a high place has always
been held by Goddess Pattini, whose worship was introduced by
Gajabahu, (P.Arunachalam-C. National Review 1906, P 52.)

Wytulian tenets (one form of Mahayanism ).

During the rule of a mixed dynasty of Nagas and Lambak-
kanas, the king being Voharika Tissa, son of Srinaga (214
-236 A.D.), the Wytulian ( Vaitulya ~ vadins) hefesy was
introduced into Ceylon by a Brahmin named Wytulia who had
subverted by craft and intrigue the religion of the Buddha (T I
379 Fn2). The king consigned their scriptures to the flames.
This doctrine introduced Saivite gods and rites into Buddhism
(LXVII), and brought about a schism in the Buddhist religion.
Abhayanaga (236 ), younger brother of Voharika returned from
India with an army of Tamils, defeated and killed the latter and
became master of Ceylon, but as expected here, he became a
slave of his own army. The Saivite army supported the Wytulians.
Wytulianism reappeared in Gotabhaya’s reign (253 A. D) and
succeeded in gaining a following in the Abhayagiri monastery at
Anuradhapura, sixty of the monks were banished after having
brand marks placed om their body. They found asylum in a
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monastery at Cauveripatnam. Gotabhaya’s second son Mahasena
{276 A.D) was caught in the tangle of Wytulianism, supporting
it in the early years of his reign, but later he reversed his re-—
ligious policy and supported the orthodox religion, demolishing devales
in Saivite villages, replacing them with viharas. ¢<The schismamong
the Buddhists themselves, tending as they did :to engraft Brah-
minical rites upon the doctrine of the pure faith, seemed to have
promoted and matured the intimacy beiween the two people. Some
of the Sinhalese kings erected temples to the gods of the Hindus and
the promoters of the Wytulian heresy found a refuge from perse-
cution among their sympathisers in the Dekkan®’, (T.Vy, 398).

A long interval of repose followed and no fresh expedition
from India is mentioned till 433.

Kalarasars’ (predatory rulers) invasion (433 A.D.)

They were Cannarese Tamil kings belonging to the Kalabhra race
of South India who in that country, made the Cholas disappear
on earth and kept the Pandyas and Pallavas under thraldom
for 150 years. Panduraja with five followers ruled in succession
in Ceylon for 62 years. It was during Pandu’s reign that the
first batch of Vanniyars colonised Tambalakamam. Dhatusena, a
samanera and a nephew of the now famous Venerable Mahanama,
the author of the Mahavamsa, rose against, and defeated the
last of these foreign kings and the kingdom was regained by
the Sinhalese. “He destroyed both the government and the
religion of the Tamils, degraded the Sinhalese who had inter-
married with the Tamils and confiscated their property’’. (T Vg,
397-8 ):- Dhatusena after his victory, seems to have made an
attempt though an ineffectual one, to reverse the policy which
operated under his predecessors as an incentive to the immigra-
tion of the Malabars, settlement and intermarriages had been
all along encouraged, and even during the recent usurpation, many
Sinhalese families of rank had formed connections with ‘““Damilos™.
Dhatusena’s vigorous policy could not however stem the further
flow of Tamils into Ceylon asis shown in the sequel.

Age of Tamil mercenary soldiers

In spite of his benign rule of 18 years, Dhatusena met his
fatal end at the hands of the son of his ordinary mabesi, while
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his lawful successor should have been Moggallana, son of his
consecrated queen. Parricide Kasyapa (477 A. D) ““fortified
Sigiriya and shut himself there in the security of this fortress
tirough fear of Moggallana and in fear of the other world”,
vwhile Moggallana fled for the safety of his life from Kasyapa’s
hostility. Moggallana I roamed about in India for 18 years like
an ascetic but with the single obsession for the throne of Lanka
and rewrned back in 495, when the fortunes in Ceylon were
turning against his step-brother Kasyapa, and recovered possess—
ion of the throne ¢‘with the aid of a force which he collected
there”” (T Vi 399).

New pattern of Tamil hegemony
623 - 840

For over 200 years from 623 A. D., Ceylon was rocked with
dynastic discords among rulers, usurpers and rivals to the throne.
Disappointed contenders escaped to India for asylum or fetched
from there, Tamil armies to fight their cause, the local Tamils
resident in Ceylon acting as liaison, supporting the new armies
comprised of their own kin. The standing army consisted now
largely of Tamil hired soldiers, the Sinhalese commander was
now a figurehead. The future of the Sinhalese was made to hang
down on the balance of power tactics adopted by the Tamils
between the Sinhalese rivals. “Each claimant in his adversity,

betook himself to the continent, and Malabar mercenaries from
Pandya and Soli enrolled themselves indifferently under any

leader, deposed or restored kings at their pleasure’’ (T Vi, 395).

Aggabodhi III when defeated by Jetthatissa III returned
from his exile in India with Tamil mercenaries and defeated
the latter, regaining the throne. Dathopatissa returned from India
with Tamil soldiers and ousted Aggabodhi IIl, who again went
to India and came back with Tamil soldiers to become a king
for the third time. Each drove out the other with the support
of Tamil soldiers brought from India. Hatthadatha nephew of
Dhatopatissa I fled to South India, returned back with a Tamil
army, captured Anuradhapura, but settled down for some time
in the Eastern Province as an independent ruler before becoming
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King Dathopatissa II (659). Thus, Tamils brought over during
the previous forty years had grown to considerable numbers
living on pillage and plunder. Sinhalese kings who owed their
throne to these soldiers had to shower favours on them and the
Tamils became rich. The Tamil power was now on the ascendant and
had attained a position just short of domination over the Island.
The ministers of Aggabodhi IV were Tamils, and finally supreme
power passed into the hands of the chief minister, the Tamil
Pottha-Kuttha who had risen high enough to become the king
maker of this time. Manavamma, a resident of Northern Province
and a lawful claimant to the throne, crossed over to South
India to raise, like his predecessors, a Tamil army to advance
his cause, as the local people of the Northern Province as well
as the powerful Tamil phalanx of Anuradhapura refused to
support him. He got held up at the Pallava court becoming a
general of a division under Narasimhavarman I, gaining honours,
and distinctions in the Pallava-Western Chalukya war. Later on
Narasimhavarman II requited him for his distinguished services
with a Pallava army to conquer Ceylon. His army marched
through the northern districts punishing his former Tamil enemies
there, isolated separately and individually the armies of Pottha-
Kuttha and Hatthadatha, defeating them one after the other
and captured Anuradhapura and clipped the powers of the Tamils
by removing Tamil officials from their positions. The Tamils however
bided their time to rise again to greater power.

In the wake of the march in, of this Pallava army in the
8th century, atong with the successive reigns of the three sons
of Manavamma, who were themselves born and brought up in
the Pallava kingdom, that Pallava culture, art and sculpture
got disseminated among the Sinbalese, (Refer C.H.C. 269).

In A.D. 819, (LXX) quotes Rajaratnacari (P 81-82) - The
removal of the seat of government to Polonnaruva took place
in the reign of the Saivite king Matwalassen with the avowed
object of avoiding the proximity of the Tamils, who were be-
coming masters of all the north.



. Pandyan raid

This invasion was an isolated incident, unprovoked and
unjustifiable that took place in 840.

Emperor Srimara Srivallabha in the exultation of a series
of victories over the Pallavas and other neighbouring kingdoms,
tan amok over Ceylon. This could not have been zn extension
to Ceylon of the dynastic principle of Digvijaya (wish to conquer
for conquest’s sake) which was prevalent in the old South
Indian kingdoms. This raid was undertaken in all probability
to refill his coffers which had run dry owing to repeated military
engagements with his neighbouring kingdoms. He came through
the north, captured, sacked and plundered the rich capital city
of Anuradhapura for the first time, and removed spoils of
great value. <“He left the city in a state as if it had been
plundered by yakkas’’. Sena I who was involved in this tragedy
“had to purchase the evacuation with a payment of a handsome
ransom’’, (Tennent Vi, P 401).

Formulation of a New Sinhalese military policy

Unable to brook any further the Malabar depredations on
Ceylon, the Sinhalese formed a new foreign policy of keeping out of
Ceylonese soil the dread of constant invasions, by transferring
the scene of war to enemy territory itself, which naturally
involved interference in the domestic affairs of another country
which was here unavoidable. The Sinhalese adopted in an open
way <the balance of power tactics’’ by sending their own army
overland, siding and aiding the weaker power against the stron-
ger and keeping these people’s military power tied up in their
own battle grounds. A golden opportunity came for <‘ravanche®’
when Sena Il (851 - 855) nephew and successor of Sena I allied
himself with the Pallavas and with a pretender to the Pandyan
throne, crossed the sea in person with a large army composed
chiefly of Tamils, overran the Dekkan and won a grand victory
by capturing and sacking the capital city of Madura. Srimara
Srivallabha was killed as a result of war wounds, his son
Varugunavarman was enthroned as a protege of the Sinhalese
Commander-in—chief im 862 A. D. (N. Sastri 154 and LXX). ¢ This
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exploit served to promote a more intimate intercourse between
ths two people’’, (Tennent V,. P 401).

In about 910 the Chola monarch sealed the doom of the
Pandyan empire by capturing Madura. The defeated Pandyan
ruler Rajasimha appealed in desperation to Kasyapa V of
Ceylon for help, the latter sent an army to his aid. Parantaka
defeated the combined armies of Pandya and Ceylon at the
battle of Vellur and the Chola conquest of the Pandyan kingdom
was completed (Sasiri 167). While the policy of alliance paid
interim dividends, it brought in the long run, danger Ccloser
to Ceylon.

2. Chola Invasions

The Cho'a invasions, unlike the Pandyan expedition was
justifiable for many reasons. In about 900 A. D. the new Chola
empire of Tanjore succeeded the first Pandyan empire as the
mightiest power in South India. The Sinhalese had committed
themselves to a league with the Pandyas and Keralas to destroy
the mounting danger presented by the Cholas. Thisalliance formed
by Kasyapa V brought disaster of tke first magnitude to
Ceylon. In 915, they irritated the Cholas by sending, on an appeal
by the Pandya country, a Sinhalese army to assist the Pandyan
King Rzjasimha I 2gainst the Cholas. The Pandya — Sinhalese
army was defeated at the Battle of Vellur. When Rajasimta
was driven out of his country in 923, he came over to Ceylon
to seek refuge and assistance. Ceylon dare not help him a
second time. Rajasimha therefore left Ceylon for his mother’s
country Kerala, leaving behind unfortunately for Ceylon, the
Pandyan regalia for safe keepng.

The presence of this regalia in Ceylon attracted four Chola
invasions on Ceylon. The Cholas as victors over the Pandyans,
were in urgent need of this regalia for their crowning ceremony
at the Pandyan capital. The first invasion came in 947 under Paran-
taka 1I Chola, who plundered Anuradhapura and extracted a large
booty, but could not recover the regalia which was taken away
and deposited in Ruhuna. Another abortive wave of invasion
the next year through Kayts, was also a failure.
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Mahinda V was the most unfortunate king in the history of
Ceylon. He was reduced to absolute impotence by the mischi-
evious activities of the local Tamils, as well as by Tamil incur—
sions from South India. His brother Sena had earned fame
by repulsing an invasion of Ceylon by the all powerful Krishna III
(958).  The dismissal of the General by the king over some
differences made the General overpower the king with his Tamil
army. Reconciliation however took place between the two later
on, the Tamils in the meantime plundered like devils the King’s
country as well as the property of the inhabitants, When Mahinda V
ascended the throne, he found Anuradbapura full of unruly
Tamil soldiers, brought by Senatipati Sena. Mahinda’s Kerala
mercenary soldiers also armed themselves and surrounded the
palace threatening the king, saying ‘as long as there is no pay
we shall not eat”. Mahinda thereupon fled to Ruhuna with his
regalia leaving behind at Rajarata a veid for Tami] soldiers to
do as they pleased.  Under these chaotic conditions in Ceylon
the illustrious king Raja-Raja Chola Deva who began his.conquests,
by destroying one by one the Pandya-Kerala-Ceylon confederation
landed his army in the north in 993, marched towards Anuradhapura,
captured, pillaged and set fire on it, <the Cholas taking all the
treasures of Lanka for themselves’’. Rajarata was annexed as g
province of the Chola empire with a Viceroy to rule over this
province. It was the Cholas who made Polonnaruva for the first
time the capital of Ceylon.

Mahinda fled a second time to Ruhuna with {he regalia
and ruled there as king for 22 years with reduced powers until
the Cholas broke into Ruhuna in 1017, captured Mahinda and
his queen with the regalia and jewels, and sent them all ag
prisoners to South India where Mahinda died in 1029, While
Raja—Raja annexed the whole of the northern half of Ceylon
as a province of his empire, Rajendra became now practically
the master of all Ceylon.

Ruhuna was the southern part of Ceylon made up of several
principalities, refuge for defeated Sinhalese kings and frustrated
princes, a country of insurrectiens and perpetual dissensions,
armies defeated at Anuradbapura returned back to the safety of
Ruhuna to regroup and recoup, before starting a retaliatory
campaign towards Anuradbapura. A prince of a collateral royal
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line, Vijayabahu I becames ultimately sole monarch of a united
Ruhuna in 1055.

There were many military skirmishes between Vijayabahu of
Ruhuna and the Chola Viceroy of Polopnaruva in the last of
which the Cholas were defeated. On hearing of this reverse,
Virarajendra, son of Rajendra I reacted by despatching a strong
force from India which landed in Mantota and marched towards
Aunuradbhapura where Vijayabahu I was defeated and fled for
safety to the rock fortress of Vakirigala (1067).

From now on, the Cholas got tightly locked into life and
death battles with the Western Chalukyas (Kannadas) in the
mainland, and all the military resources were requisitioned for
this war and Ceylon was neglected. Vijayabahu taking full
advantage of the weak situation of the enemy in Ceylon struck
at Anuradhapura, and entered it in triumph in 1070. He too
continued to have Polonnaruva as his capital for a very different
strategic reason mentioned hereafter.

Ancient Cholas in South India

«“The Cholas like the Pandyas and Ceras are generally believed
to have been an indigenous dynasty of Tamil rulers. Their origin
is lost in the mist of antiquity. They are known to the grammarian
Katyayana (4 B.C.) and are mentioned in the inscriptions of Asoka
among the independent states outside his empire (3 B.C.)

(U.HC. 282).

Chola influences on Ceylon

Darkness shrouds the period of Chola occupation of Ceylon
even when it was ef a considerably long duration of about 77
years. The Cholas as well as the Sinhalese chronicles had cont-
ributed to the neglect of this part of history. It is understand-
able why the Sinhalese chronicles should have omitted this period
of history, either out of spite for a foreign subjugation, or to
avoid painful memories. Any occupation by a foreign power is
bound to have created pressures and deep impressions on the
social structure of the subjects of the rulers, interfering with the
old order and introducing new ways of life. The Cholas had come and
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gone without leaving their records, but they have left behind a
long trail of events to influence the succeeding generations, dynasties
and kings. Reference to these matters helps one to form some-
what a picture of what had happened during the blackout time
of the Chola imperium. (Still P. 20):- ‘“Three or four decades
of peace under Chola kings must have been of vast importance
in planting Cholyan influence dezp in the Sinhalese race of far
greater importance than war’’. The first Viceroy was Prince
Uttama Chola, brother of King Parantaka II who held the nor-
thern districts in about 954 (JoAn XVIII) with his capital
at Mantota or Padaviya (N-P 96). The last Chola Viceroy was
Adhirajendra who departed from Ceylon in 1070 (John XVIII).
Both Viceroys became later Chola kings. Being skilled agricul-
turists and specialists in tank-building operations in their home
country, they had given evidently the necessary attention and
assistance to agriculture which was in any country the mainstay
of the sinews of war and peace time activities, Being also the
foremost people in India to cast bronzeware and statues, ‘Polo-
nnaruva was full of Hindu influences imported by its Hindu
embellishers’’ (Farrer P 172). They built Siva Devales by the
side of Buddhist institutions, so that the Sinhalese had a common
texture of culture formed by the nexus of Hindu warp and
Buddhist weft. Let us pick up here and now, some superficial points.

South Indian names were for the first time introduced into
Sinhalese dynasty, the name Parakramabahu is akin to Parakrama,
Parakrama Pandy or Parakrama Pandya of Pandya country.
Vikramabahu I came for the first time into Sinbalese royal
order, contemporaneous with Vikrama Chola and Vikrama Pandya
of South India. Dynasties also assumed Tamilian character, such
as Pandya and Kalinga Sinhalese kings of Polonnaruva, Pandya
line of Sinhalese kings of Dambadeniya, Chola line of kings of
Kotte and in the 19th century, Naika kings of Kandy from Madura.

Hinduism also followed these dynastic lines. When Polonnaruva
was in the zenith of its power which was under Parakramabahu
the Great who was a “Brahmin of Hindu religion®’ (Farrer P171),
Tamil and Hindu influences reached their apex. Parakrama-
bahu buwilt the city of Polonnaruva in Dravidian style quite
different from the architectural form of Anuradbapura’’ (Still P 77).
He followed the traditions of the Cholas in improving
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agriculture and expanding tank construction works etc. To mention
some of the kings who had leanings towards Hinduism of were
Hindus. (i) Alagakkonar V.

(2) The Great Alagakkonar I who built four Hindu temples
around Kotte for the spiritual protection of this fortress-city.
(3) Parakramabahu VI, Rajasingha I, and other Kotte kings.
(4) The Naika kings of Kandy. (5) The Kalinga kings of Polo-
nnaruva were also so, for instance Nissankamalla had strong
Hindu leanings, discovered with a Brahmin thread op his should-
ers in stone carvings. Tradition claims that it was he who
built Siva Devale No. 1 and not Gajabahu II. He left
many inscriptions in Polonnaruva.

Tamil language also gained great pre-eminence after the
Chola reign, especially in Polonnaruva, Kotte, Kandy and among
the Alagakkonars. The above deductions from the silent history
of the Chola reign, did not have any valid or tangible support,
until H.C.P. Bell made use of the modern science of archaeology
to embowel in 1907 Mother-Earth in Polonnaruva, and brought
to the surface, some precious materials for people to see
and be convinced.

These were clear evidences of the glory of Hinduism and
Tamil language during the Polonnaruva period which were, (i)
The images and bronze statuettes of Saivite deities and the
idols of their devotees as well. (2) Inscriptions were written in
the Devzles in Tamil grantha characters. The Devales which
were exposed by Bell were Nos. 1 and 5. The following deities
and devotees were revealed :-

~

(I) Nata—Raja. (dancing Siva)

(2) Nandi. (Siva’sfavourite charger or vahana)
(3) Sivakamy.

(4) Lingam.

(5) Sakhti. (Yoni stones)

(6) Surya.

(7) Vishnu, etc.

The devotees were :« Sundaramurti, Sambaniar, Chandrasekerar
etc.
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Bell’s discovery was made sixteen years earlier than the
famous archacological excavations of the Indus Valley by Sir
John Marshall, which had added a thousand and five hundred
years more to the antiquity of India, as well as to that of the
Saivite religion. What Marshall exposed te the world were again,
as at Polonnaruva, Saiva deities in various postures and forms,
dancing Nata-Raja, Siva in various duties, Uma, Lingam and
Yoni stones.

Raghavan (India in Ceylon history, Culture and Society, P 105):-
We are told that thirteen temples existed in Polonnaruva,
seven Siva Devales, five Vishnu Devales and one Kali Koyil.
Five of them were constructed of stone, others in brick and
moriar, No 2 entirely of stone representing Dravidian atits best’”.

Devales.

(i) Siva Devale No.l is an example of the choicest of Hindu
' temples carved on stone ¢‘lovely jewel of stone works, more
ornate and elaborate than Siva Devale No. 5, Tamil, Hindu, a
small temple of Siva the destroyer” (Parrer 185). Tradition
claims its author to be Nissankamalla, busiest builder and
restorer”.

(ii) Siva Devale No. 2. This contains Lingam, Nandi etc., and
strange enough Vishnu, but here understandable,in the traditions of
the Chola kings at home, who before commencement of a war and
after victory,paid ‘“dharsanam’ to both Vishnu of Sri-Rangam
temple and WNatarajah and Vishnu of the temple of Chidam-
baram, which also possesses a Vishnu shrine. This temple is
also known as Vanavan—Madevi—Iswaram Udayar, after the
name of one of the queens of Raja—Raja. Her son Rajendra I
had left his inscription on its wall.

Udayar Sri Adhbirajendra Deva (Parakesarivarman) the last
Viceroy of Ceylon and afterwards a Chola king, wrote three
inscriptions on its wall with praises of his own valour and victories,
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granting at the same time a lamp and stand to give perpetual
light to the temple (1067). ‘‘Chola rule in Ceylon was largely
responsible for the establishment of several permanent Hindu Tamil
settlements in various parts of north Ceylon, even after their
expulsion. Hindu temples built during the Chola occupation were
carefully maintained by the Tamil settlers and new ones were
also built. Vijayabahu I, greatest enemy of the Cholas, was
himself a patron of Hinduism. Somie Saiva temples were named
after him’’. (K.Indrapala - Hindu Temples of Ancient Ceylon, P 5).

R s
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[1I

POLONNARUVA,

Polonnaruva is the name of a historic city hallowed in the
memory of the ancient Tamils.

1. It tirived on a Hindu background, excavations so far showed
at least thirteen Hindu temples, seven for Siva, five for Vishnu
and one for Kali—amman. Bronze statuettes of Hindu deities are
from time to time excavated from these temple sites. The last
excavation (1960) by Godakumbura in and about Siva Devale
No. 5, brought to the surface bronze statuettes of Nataraja thirty
seven inches in height, Somaskandamurti ( a combination of Siva,
Uma and Skanda), Parvathy, stones of Ganesha, Vishnu with
bell and two lamp posts, Balakrishna, Nandi, Linga, Siva, saints
such as Karaikkal-ammal, Sunderamurthy etc, everything Saivaite.

2. Known in the Ramayana as Pulastinagara, city of Pulastiya,
the grandfather of Ravana.

3. Probably Vijitapura built by Elara in 2 B, C. as a strong
forward defensive citadel near Polonnaruva which Duttugamani
took four months to demolish, refer (C V 11 P 60 quotes Parker’s
Ancient Ceylon, P 287).

4. Made capital of Ceylon for the first time by a Tamil king
Raja— Raja, he also named it Janatha-Mangalam (Auspicious city
of the Lord of Creation) . Cholas being experienced strategists
of warfare, selected this city as their capital because of its
military value, guarding all the crossings along the river line of
Mahaveli Ganga. The Sinhalese army whenever defeated in
Rajarata retreated to its southern stronghold of Ruhuna to re-
group their armies before attempting to recapture Anuradhapura.
Polonnaruva was therefore a strategic obstacle to armies onm
their way to Anuradhapura from the south. Vijayabahu I retained
it as his capital for a different reason, because Polonnaruva
was farther away than Anuradhapura to the Indian invasions that
were coming through the northern harbours, such as Mantota and

Kayts.
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5. It was the last regular capital of Ceylon under ansther Tami)
ruler, who later became the first Aryachakravarti of Jaffna.

6, <Parakramabahu built the city of Polonnaruva ina style
of great magnificence as may be seen from their ruins, they were
of a style very different from the typical plans observed at
Anuradhapura. The country was now so greatly under the in:
fluence of India, that a style of architecture pronouncedly Hindu
in type pervades the whole of Polonnaruva. He turned his atten-
tion towards Anuradhapura to build 1t ‘not to alienate the Sin-
halese party and Buddhist monks’ ( Stil P 77). ‘He introduced
Chola type of coinage from India and his successors copied it
for a century or perhaps more’’, (Sull P 193). “During his
reign, intercourse with India was probably more free than evem
before, with the natural result that Polonnaruva was bult on
Tamil lines. Bricks very largely took the place of stone. The
art of Polonnaruva is a mixture of the earlier pure style of Anu-
radhapura and the Tamil art of the 12th eentury A.D,
(Still P 178).

Tennent Vi, P 408 :- *“So greatly had the constructive arts
declined even at that period in Ceylon, that Parakramabatu I
had to bring Damilo artificers from the opposite coast of India’’.
«Tamil letters were found as masons’ marks on the stonework
of some of Parakramabahu’s buildings (C.H.C. 269).

This era began with Chola occupation and ended with the
reign of the last Kalinga of Polonnaruva, Magha.

Kalingas

(Tennent V1, 418, P. N 3) refers to Kalinga as situated in
the Coromandel coast. Kalinga may have been therefore included
in Cholamandalam. Cambridge history of India (Vi page 545)
states ‘“How far Kalinga is to be regarded as a Dravidian province
is not clear. At present Circar and southern Ganjam are mainly
Telugu in speech and Dravidian physical features are popular in
this population as in. Orissa’’. “Calingha (Northern Circars) was
a Tamil country according to LIV’’.
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Pliny of the 1st century A. D. mentions that Pertalis was
the capital of Kalinga at his time. This name of the capital
according to him, may have been Dravidian in origin (Tamil -
Per - Peria. meaning “Great’’, and Tali which in Tamil means
“head” or office of a district official, a great head office. Nila-
kanta Sastri (P 15} dated 1955, says “Kalinga was throughout under
the tule of the line of Eastern Gangas with no apparent con-
nection in this period with the Western Gangas of Mysore. R 307:~
The first Eastern Ganga king was Vajrahasta I (1038)’’. They
dated their inscriptions in an era of their own beginning about
A.D. 509. Sastri (P 213) :- Throughout ths 13th century and
later, the Gangas continued to rule the kingdom of Kalinga. The
Chola king Rajaraja III (1i98) was a grandson of Anantavarman
Chola-Ganga, an alliance between the Eastern Gangas and Cholas.
The Kalinga kingdom was reduced to impotency by the successive
invasions of the Bengali and Delhi Muhammedans. This long
lived dynasty ended with Bhanudeva IV (1432) who died childless.

Kalinga kings are said to belong to Gangavamsa, inhabitants
of the southern districts of Kalinga (Orissa) along the northern
borders of Andhra country. Owing to fluctuating fortunes in
border wars between these two neighbours, the FEastern Ganga
district was tossed about into Orissa or Andhra, according to
the victorious position of one or the other. Gangavamsa is
probably of Telugu origin. Coda-Gangas are descendants of that
section of Gangavamsa who got mixed up in marriage with the
powerful Chola dynasty. Coda-Gangas are a mixture of Eastern
Ganga and Chola blood while the Aryachakravartis were descen-
dants of the Coda-Gangas mixed up in marriage with the |

Sethupathi Brahmins of Rameswaram, with therefore Brahmin |
blood in them. s, Wy vt ¢ N, "
Vel @l il - ,W% 3

It is reported tHat there is an isolated group of fifteen
families a primitive people living at present on the east coast of
Ceylon at Illangaiturai 20 miles off Trincomalee, who call
themselves Kalingas, claiming that their ancestors immigrated
from Kalinga of the east coast of Indja. They speak a language,
mixture of Tamil and Kalinga. There is also in this place a
rivulet named Kalinga Ela, which flows into the Mahaveli Ganga.

L]
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The theory of Paranavitana based, it is claimed on newly
discovered findings. that the Kalingas and the Aryachakravartis were
Malaysians needs because of its recency, further time for study
and assessment. :

At the time the Kalingas were migrating to the Rameswaram,
Polonnaruva and Singai-nagar settlements, the Eastern Gangavamsa
appears to bhave been merely a house of petty kings or chieftains.
They flowered out as kings of Kalinga, only in early 1llth
century and after, in their own country. Rajaraja III (1198-1211)
a later Chola king was a grandson of Anantavarman Choda Ganga
{Coda-Ganga.) The Chola dynasty had during this period dovetailed
into the Kalinga dynasty to form the Coda-Ganga race. The Indian
Kalinga kingdom vanished after receiving several repeated hammer
blows from the Bengali Muslims and later those of the Muha-
mmedans of the Delhi Sultanate. The last Kalinga king was
Bhanuva Deva IV who died childless in 1432.

Kalinga and Pandya factions of
Polonnaruva (1055-1236), 18] years

With the end of the Chola imperium, sixteen kings ruled at
Polonnaruva from Vijayabahu I to Kalinga Magha, out of whom
ten at least were Kalinga kings and three of Pandyan origin.

Introduction of the Kalingas into
the dynasties of Ceylon

The first Kalinga to, a,rgigc in Ceylon was Ugra-Singkan in
795 who ‘r'plcd'_ﬂl?,f northern half of Ceylon from Singai Nagar.
The néxt Kalinga was Samgka, a Kalingadevi, the mother of
Mahinda V (956).  Vijayabahu I married’ a Kalinga princess
Tilakasundari whose son, Vickramabahu I himself married Sundari,
a Kalinga princess. Vijayabahu I’'s grandmother also was a
Kalinga princess. Manabharana was married to Ratnavali a Kalinga
daughter of Vijayabahu I. Manabharana was the father of Para-
kramabahu I, the latter marrying Lilavati a Pandya princess.
Parakramabahu I’s father was either a Kalinga or a Pandya prince.
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The mother of Gajabahu II, Sundari was a Kalinga. Para-
kramabahu I was a good representative of a blood mixture of
Pandyas, Kalingas and Simhalese. Vijayabahu I and Parakrama-
bahu I appear to have been the originators of the Kalinga and
Pandya line of Polonnaruva kings. The name Parakramabahu
appears for the first time in Sinhalese dynasty, which is a Pandya
name akin to the Pandya names of India, Parakrama Pandi, Pa-
rakrama Pandya, Parakrama etc. Vikramabahu I, a Tamil royal
nzme belonging to both the Cholas and Pandyas of India, also
appears for the first time among Sinbalese kings.

Parakramabahu I's reign (lI53 - 1186)

.

Parakramabahu I was one of the two foremost kings of the
post- Anuradhapura period, the other was Parakramabahu VI. He
ascended the throne of a country when it was in a state of shambles.
He conquered troublesome Ruhuna and swept away rebellions
and recalcitrants from all the other parts of Ceylon by
conducting a big and arduous campaign in charge of a Tamil
Adhikaram, and consolidated his own position by uniting Ceylon
into one kingdom. He followed the Chola traditions in developing
the country by increased attention to agriculture, tank and irriga-
tion works.

According to one source, Parakramababu is said to have
been born in Singai-Nagar in Jaffna. A person who had Tamil

connections and healthy leamngs towards Hinduism, was perhaps
acceptable also to the Tamils of the north as their king. Para-
kramabahu’s edict in the Nainativa Tamil inscription on stone,
containing port regulations pertaining to the harbour of Kayts
(R 208), bears tesstimony to the following two allusions that (i)
Parakramabahu held suzerainty over Jaffna and its islands, confirmed
further by his (ii) using with freedom the ports of Valigamam
(Kankcsantural), Madduvil,  Uraturai and Mantota for a planned
invasion of Chola country which however did not eventually take
place. He sent a punitive naval expedition to Bassein in Burma
through the Andaman islands under the admiralship of another
Tamil@ikaram. He waged a long war indirectly against the
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enemies of Ceylon, the Cholas. by sending a strong army through
Rameswaram to Pandyan soil in support of Vira Pandya’s claims
to the throne against that of Kulasekera, a protege of the Cholas.

Successors of Parakramabahu |

They were either his nephews or close relatives, belonging
either to the Kalinga or Pandya clan. His Pandyan quesn
Lilavati ruled at Polonnaruva three times. In one of her reigns,
three Chola invasions happened to have come to Ceylon. Vijaya-
bahu 11, a nephew was his direct successor. Others were Nissanka~
malla, another nephew, Vickramabahu II brother of Nissankamalla,
Kalyanavati Nissankamalla‘s queen, Anikanga who invaded Ceylon
with a Tamil_army. all Kalingas. A Pandyan general invaded
Ceylon now, with the help of a Pandya force and ruled at
Polonnaruva.

Now landed on Ceylon in 1214 the great Kalinga Magha
from Cholaland in a mood of *frenzied fury’’ and wrested the
Polonnaruva kingdom from his Pandvan enemies and returned
it back to the Kalinga faction. He did this by plucking the eyes
and plundering the treasures of Parakramabahu Pandu, the last
Pandya— Sinhalese king of Polonnaruva.

Incursions of the second Pandyan, and the
Vijayanagara empires

These later So:ith Indian invasions had to tacklesnow not
one but two kingdoms in Ceylon These invasions were short
lived ones. U. H.C 685 et al:- on the decline and fall of the
great Chola Empire.

(i) Jatavartian Sundara Pandya who brought about the downfall
of the Imperial Cholas and became the founder of the second
Pandyan empire, invaded Ceylon (1258) and made Parakrama-
bahu II his vassal, ordering him te pay tributes.

(ii) In 1263 Jatavarnam Vira Pandya, on an appeal from a minister
of Lanka invaded Ceylon, when a Ceylonese king lost his
life and the Pandyan flag was hoisted at Konamalai.
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In about 1284, an Aryachakravarti, probably a subruler of
Rameswaram under the Pandyas, invaded and sacked Yapahuva
in Bhuvanakabahu I’s reign. This invasion is contested by
some historians.

Vijayanagara Invasions

(i) In 1371 Kumara Kampana ii, son of the Emperor Bukku I

brought all the Tamil kingdoms of the south including Ceylon,
as tributaries, mad: easier by the previous capture of the
Madura Sultanate.

(i) In 1377 when all the Tamil countries rebelled against the

(iii)

(v

)

Vijayanagara yoke, Virapaksha Udayar, son of Hari—Hara II
was despatched to his Southern base of operations, Madura, to
bring the Tamil rebels under his control. This refers as far as
Ceylon was concerned to the reconquest of the northern part
of Ceylon including the Jaffna Peninsula. Virapaksha expressed
his thanks to Lord Ramanatha of Rameswaram after the
Jjoint victory over Rameswaram and nearby kingdom of Jaffna, by
weighing himself against gold in the presence of Lord Ramanatha
of Rameswaram.

In about 1422, during the reign of Deva Raja 1I, the Governor
of Madura Lakanna-dandanayaka fitted a cavalry force and suc~
cessfully destroyed Iyalpanam (Jaffna), Nagapattanam, and Ilam
(the Sinhalese kingdom), to enforce tributes, :

In c 1422 Arikesari Parakrama Pandya a governor under
Vijayanagara, was sent to restore the imperial Vijayanagara
authority over the troublesome Island of Ceylon.

In 1496 when again the imperial hold on Ceylon and other
Tamil countries was weakening, Narasa Nayakka the imperial
general and father of the illustrious Emperor Krishnarayadeva
of Vijayanagara captured Madura, conquering ail the Tamil
regions including Jaffna.
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Tennant Vi P 417 :- ‘‘From the beginning of the thirteenth
century to the extinction of the Sinhalese dynasty in the ISth
century, the Island cannot be said to have been entirely free
from the presence of the Malabars. Even when temporarily
subdued, they remained with false professions of loyalty,
Damila soldiers were taken into pay by the Sinhalese
sovereigns, the Devales of Hindu worship were built in close
proximity to the viharas of Buddhism and by frequent inter-

p. marriages, the royal line was almost closely allied to the kings of
| Chola and Pandya as to the blood of the Suluvamsa”.

PR S S
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VELAIKKARAS

«Velai-Karas’® is the Tamil rendering for ‘‘servicemen on
pay’’, hired Tamil Indian soldiers employed by the Sinhalese
monarchs to fight their own internal wars. According to Marco
Polo they were employed because the Sinhalese and Ceylon Tamils
were unwarlike. From 623 onwards for 61 years, Tamil soldiers
from India were a dominant factor in Sinhalese politics, till
Manavamma curbed their power. Velaikkaras were increasingly used
from early Polonnaruva period. These soldiers assumed the name
of Velaikkaras during Vijayabahu I's timss, modelled on the
recruits of Rajendra Chola’s army of invasion. To start with,
they were trusted body guards of Sinhalese kings and protectors
at one time to a charity and the tooth relic.

They consisted at different times of Tamils, Keralas, Kannadas,
and Telugus. They fought for pay and not out of patriotism, a
turbulent people given to plunder and oppression whenever an
opportunity came their way. They gave trouble to Vijayabahu I;
Gajabahu II, and Parakramabahu I. In about 1,000 A.D. the
Keralas armed themselves, surrounded the palace of Mahinda V
and threatened him saying, <so long as there is no pay you shall
not eat”. The king had no alternative but to take to flight from
Anuradhapura to Ruhuna for safety where he stayed permanently.
They rebelled against Vijayabahu I twice, once when he ordered
them to join an expedition against the Chola country, they refused
to fight against their own kith and kin, whereupon Vijayabahu I
had to take to his heels towards the rock fortress of Vakirigala
in the Kegalle district for safety. Subsequently the rebellion was

suppressed.

They had their own chiefs called s«Damiladhikarams” under
Parakramabahu [, who were given authority over villages and lands
set apart for the maintenance of Tamils in the king’s army. The
Velaikkaras under Parakramabahu I now became the nucleus
of the Sinhalese standing army. These Damilo Adbi.
karams bescame permanent generals of Parakramabahu the Great,
They took a very significant part in the suppression of rebellions



34

all over Ceylon at the time of his accession. Tamil Adhikaram
Rakkha was responsible for the conquest of Ruhuna and suppress-
ion of many revolts in other parts of Ceylon. Tamil Adhikaram
Adicca conducted the combined naval and military raid on Burma
(Bassein), The Velaikkaras are sure to have take a notable part in
Parakramabahu’s invasion of the Pandya kingdom, making the
campaign easier by their knowledge of the Tamil language and
Indian terrain.

Karava caste integrated into the Sinhalese race

(¢ With thankful acknowledgement to M.D. Raghavan from
“Karava of Ceylon, Soctety and Culture’”, 1961). and (K. V. G. de
Silva & Co., Ltd, Colombo. Publishers).

This subject is taken up earlier at this point, because the
Karava people came to Ceylon for the same purpose of military
service, like the Velaikkaras but during the latter part of the reign
of Parakramabahu VI

Five hundred years ago, the Karavas were pure Tamils and
Hindus, who had come to Ceylon at the special invitation of the
king from the Coromandel coast (Kurumandalam) to defend
Ceylon against an invasion by the Mukkuvars. Their army collected
together at Kanchipuram, disembarked at Mutwal (Muwatu-waram)
marched to Puttalam, and after a seige of three months captured
it, losing a thousand five hundred soldiers in this action. While
another Mukkuvar army was waiting to swoop on Ceylon from
Nagapattanam, this port was destroyed by the Karavas, the latter’s
casualty figure here being another one thousand four hundred men.

Their much heralded arrival in Ceylon was like the celebrat-
jon of a processional festival. They marched to Ceylon, led by
their Pattankattinars or Pattankattis (Sgh. Patabende), Devars
(commanders,) Talaivans (leaders), Mudianses, Mohottiars, Aratchies
Kudaikarars (umbrella holders), Tivettikarars (torch bearers),
alavattam and fly whisker carriers etc. They also came with their
kudumais. The Pattankattinars wore frontal plates, with inscript-
ions of their titles on them, tied round their foreheads, which
were on palm leaves, copper or gold plates according to their
ranks. ‘Parakramabahu inquired of their lineage and was glad’’.

G'\Ihc first settlement of the Pattankattinars was at Kalutara.
) 5
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When the war was successfully concluded, Parakramabahu got
into dfficulties about payment to these mercenaries, his coffers
being probably depleted in the conduct of this war. The Karavas,
motto in their own language (Tamil) was “Mun vaccha kal, pin
vaika matane’’, meaning “the foot which had been placed in
front will not be taken back by me’’. Admiring their valour,
th: king tried hard and managed to retain their services in
Ceylon and made use of them in his internal wars of which he
has had plenty. He enticed them to stay back by display of
flags, gems etc., gave them fertile lands along the south-western
sea coast which was congenial to them, having been used to
coastal life in their own country. This king gave them eighteen
harbours, tax free, for sea-going trade.

Soldiers never came with their wives. Parakramabahu VI must
have levered this situation to his advantage, to strengthen his
position at home by marrying these soldiers to Sinhalese brides

of a rank equating the high dignity of the Karavas i. ¢., ladies &

of the Goigama,caste which always formed the largest constituent of
the Sinhalese people. This pleased the Karavas and they settled

down in Ceylon, although the two people continued later not to 4D

misgenate, but to live separately as two parallel castes.

The Karavas belonged to three main clans, (i) Kurukulasuriyas,
(2) Arasa or Mihindakulasuriyas and (3) Varnakulasuriyas.

Kurukulasuriyas belonging perhaps to a higher order would
not easily mix up in blood with the other clans even if they
lived in neighbouring streets, as in Negombo.

Negombo was their chief parvenu or hereditary territory. All
the three clans lived in all the streets and by-lanes, within and
around Negombo. From here they spread out to seek new avenues
into the interior of the country like (1) Manampitiya (N. C. P.),
(Kurukulams ). Five families migrated from Manampitiya to
Chenkaladi, Eravur and Batticaloa. (2) Ratalavava in Matale South.
These Varnakulasuriyas were brought here by Rajasingha II to
serve him in local wars. (3) Diddeniya (N. C P) (Varnakulams.)
(4) Udappu, Varnakulams with Draupadiamman Hindu temple.

2 aad
iy
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The migrants to the interior country Sinhalacised or Buddhist,
continued to preserve their Hindu Tamil traditional culture in
their personal and place names and in the worship of Hindu
deities. They belonged as revealed in their names to the Murugan
cult of the Saivaite sect, their names generally being Kadirgama-
thamby, Velan, Velati, Velappu, Kandapu, Arumugam, female
names such as Valliamma, Thevamma, etc.

There appears to have existed Hindu temples in Negombo
itself, before Catholicism was adopted by the Karavas, to take
two place names (1) Nanchundankarai (Iswaram’s beach) and
(2) Kamachi-odai (Devi channel) bear the names of Siva and
Parvathy respectively (N - Hindusim P 58).

The people of Munnakarai in Negombo still speak the Tamil
language in its original purity of diction.

) VJ/\ The Karava people who lived along the south—western coast,
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the Arasakulams of Kalutara, Moratuwa etc. as in Negombo,

' took however a different turn. They were converted from Hinduism

straight to Catholicism, during the Portuguese period. Let loose
from their Hindu moorings ‘were caught in the net of Catholi-
cism just before they got enmeshed into the intricate social
structure of the Sinhalese race’’. The names also changed to
Portuguese or Christian names, such as Fernandos, de Silvas,
Pereras, de Mels, Diases and so forth. They were the first to
be westernised. With the possession of their own emblems, in-
signias and titular ranks, “suffice it to say that the Karava,
whether villager or urbanised, never covers up his caste, to the
contrary he is usually proud of it””. (Bryce Ryan, Caste in
modern Ceylon, 1953 ).

1. Is there any blood relationship between ihe Karavas and
Chola line of Sinhalese kings of Kotte? Is the answer found
in the following line of arguments?

i. The progenitor of the Chola line of kings, a Chola
Panickar as well as the Karavas came from a common
ancestral land, Cholamandalam.

ii. Both parties came also during the regime of the
same king Parakramababu VI.
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fii. Both people were great warriors. Chola line of kings
included such formidable fighting monarchs like
Mayadunne and his son Rajasingha.

iv. Names like Perumal, titles like Suriyas, Mobhottis and
Aratchis are exclusively common to both, for instance ;-

A. Perumal in Sempahap Perumal ( Bhuvanaikabahu VI)
is also a Karava name.

B. Tamitta Suriya Bandara alias Tamitta Sampara Perumal,
uncle of Dbarmapala, had the Karava nomenclatures
‘¢Suriya’® and ‘““Perumal’’ in his name.

C. Nitta Muditta Perumal, a prince from the Chola
country was a first cousin of Parakramabahu VI.

D. Manna Peruma Mohottiar alias Aritta Kivendu Peru-

mal or Aree Juvan Wenda Perumal of Manampairy,

a Tamil who came from Chola as a pilgrim, had

the Karava title Mohottiar and cognomen Perumal as

with the Karavas in his personal name, like the

names, Periya Perumals among the Karava Mohottiars

M’A"'L of Matara, Alla Perumal, Sinna Peruma included in

" the Matara Karava aratchies, Vira Peruma and

Purusuram Perumal of Madampe, Velaide, Ilea and

Periya Perumals among the Karavas of Negombo.

Mannaperuma Mohottiar married a daughter of Raja

Chetty, who had been the king’s concubine and became

a great favourite of Rajasingha I, (LXXVIII) - quotes
Rajavali).

E. Mobhotti and Aratchie are Karava military ranks.

F. Salappa Aratchi, a gencral of a Sinhalese army under
Bhuvanaikabahu VI is probably a Karava. Salappu
is like the Karava appus of Diddeniya, and Araichi is
specifically a Karw@ry title. There appears to
be sufficient scope for research on these lines.

II. A more interssting question is, Are the Velaikkaras of
Parakramabahu I’s reign and the Karava soldiers of Parakramabahu
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VI of Kotte period, of the same blood stock? The answer tends
to be in the affirmative. An army commander of Vijayabahu I
was himself a Kurukulat—tharaiyan who wore golden anklets.
South Indian inscriptions had shown that there existed, Kurukulat-
tharaiyans during the reigns of Virarajendra (1062), Kulottunga 1
(1120),mm and Sundara Pandya Deva (1257),
all Karava commanders and leaders who lived tkree centuries
earlier than the mass arrival of Karava soldiers in Ceylon
during the Kotte period.

M
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V

THE STRUGGLE OF THE BUDDHIST SUBJECTS WITH
KALINGA MAGHA AND THE BATTLE OF KALAVAVA

Kalinga Magha descended on Polonnaruva directly from India
with an army of 24,000 Keralas and Tamils to wrest the Polonn-
aruva kingdom for the Kalingas from the hands of the
Pandyan rivals. He never had the remotest idea  of
ever forming a separate Tamil kingdom in Jaffna. Unable to
penetrate into the interior of the country, because of the activ-
ities in these parts of Tamil soldiers left over from previous South
Indian invasions, he strengthened his hold on Ceylon, by establi-
shing fortified garrisons along the seaboard regions, in the north
at Kayts, Valikamam (Kankesanturai), Damalapatinam (Jaffna) and
Illuppaik-kadavi, in the east at Kotiyar, Trincomalee and Kantalai,
in the west at Giant’s Tank, Mannar and Mantai, in the centre
at Polonnaruva, Padaviya, Kolan—Nuwera (Colombo) etc. “He
reduced the hitherto indepedent Ruhuna and established a stron-
ghold at Mahagam (present Tissamaharama) and thence to Jaffna-
patam, every part of the Island was under his sway’’, (LXXIII).
N - 211 quotes Rajavaliya «that Magha scttled Tamils in every
village’’. He quotes again Rajaratnakara which records that even
before Magha’s times, in the Sth and 10th centuries, the domination
of the Tamils was so completc that they were in large numbers
in every town and village throughout the Island’. What had
happened to these Tamils in the Sinhaless areas was that, they
were absorbed by the Sinhalese through the centuries.

The established tradition was that the rulers of Anuradhapura
or Polonnaruva, whether Tamils or Sinhalese should belong to
the Buddhist faith. Magha, a bigoted Hindu (Codrington), deviated
from this norm in attempting to impose his own religion of
Hinduism on his Buddhist subjects, burning valuable libraries,
plundering vtharas and converting monasteries into army barracks.
These acts cost him, the loss of his throne at Polonnaruva.
Sinhalese princes of Uva, Ruhuna, Yapavuva, Dambadeniya etc.,
rose individually against him, later all gathered as ons united
force round the standard of Vijayebahu III of Dambadeniya and
drove Magha’s forces out of Mayarata (Kurunegala) district,
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“Pihiti continuing to remain as before under the Tamils. To
escape the proximity of the Tamils, Vijayabahu removed the seat
of government to Dambadeniya, *’(LXXII). Unable to pursue
the enemy into Polonnaruva, he returned back and settled down

at his native home Dambadeniya, making it the capital of
Kurunegala district. Although the origin of Vijayabahu is not

known, ke was probably a member of the Pandya faction of
Polonnaruva, whose sister also was married to a Pandya prince,
himself also becoming the founder of the Pandya line of Sinha-
lese kings of Dambadeniya.

The Cholas were always on ths side of the Kalingas, while
the Pandyans helped the Sinhalese.

His son, Parakramabahu II claimed in his writings that he
was of Pandyan stock (CH. C 278) and his Devundara inscrip-
tion U. H, C. 614). Vijayabahu III revived and reestablished
the Pandya section of Polonnaruva at Dambadeniya, while the
Kalinga faction was able to hang on under Magha, to Polonna-
ruva for some more time. Before his death Vijayabahu admonish-
ed bis son Parakramabahu to be in friendly terms with the Tamils,
to avoid further troubles and not to wage war on them. Para-
kramabahu II, able soldier and patriot that "he was, disregarded
this advice of his father, defeated Magha at the battle of Kala-
vava in the jungles, on the northern fringe of Mayarata near
Maho." It appears to have b:zen a blind battle, the Sinhalese
army not knowing what had happened to Magha, whether he
was killed in action, taken prisoner or where he went. The
Pandyans are said to have vigorously helped Parakramabahu II
to vanquish Magha by trapping Magha’s army from the north
and east. (C. H. C. 283).

The Pandyans of India gave active support to their counter-
parts in Ceylon. Parakramabahu II’s victory was not a complete
one in tbat he could not capture Polonnaruva, becauss of the
presence of a third force there. That force was a large number
of Tamil soldiers and settlers of previous periods, ravishing Raja-
rata (Pihiti), doing things as they pleased, given up to plunder
and devastation; What was the immediate result of this battle ?
Kalinga Magha retreated in haste from the battle field through
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the northern highway past Anuradhapura to Jaffna, which was
already in his possession as a part of the Polonnaruva kingdom.
Parakramabahu II ‘could not prevent the establishment of the
Kalinga kingdom of Jaffna (C.H. C. 287). “To escape Tamil
invasions -of the future, the king built Siriwardhanapura (Kandy) in
the mountains of Maya 1287 (LXXIV) more as a reserve
repository for the Dalada.’’ °

Time was not sufficient enough for him to return to Polonn-
aruva which was about forty miles east of Kalavava, in order to
damage this city. Parakramabahu himself was unable to enter
this capital because of the troublesome Tamils resident in that
city. . Who are therefore the authors of the Polonnaruva ruins?
It was the third force of Tamil marauders who were given upto
pillage and destruction in Rajarata. Magha no doubt did some
damage to the buildings which he had to occupy on his entry,
and therefore was not the author of the Polonnaruva ruins.

Parakramabahu 1I expressed his last wish that his son and
successor Vijayabahu IV should capture Polonnaruva during the
latter’s life time. Vijayabahu IV, a monarch of philosophical temp=
erament was not strong enough to carry out what his soldierly
father was unable to do. Like all weaklings; he followed an
easier path by merely constructing defensive forts instead, at
Kurunegala, Yapahuva and Wattala. How these forts became use-
ful however for his successors, during the invasions of the
Aryachakravartis of later dates, is mentioned in the sequel.
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VI

NEW CHAPTER ON CEYLON HISTORY

The battle of Kalavava was a pivot for a turn of events
which opened a mew phase in the history of Ceylon, most im-
portant end result being the establishment of the Hindu king~
dom of Jaffna by Kalinga Magha.

Y Kalinga camp was ﬁislodged from Polonnaruva, Magha settled
down in Nallur and inaugurated there ths Kalinga kingdom
of Jaffna,

2. Parakramabahu II continued the Pandyan line of Sinhalese
kings at Dambadeniya.

3. Polonnaruva was abandoned to the mercy of Tamil freebooters
who .had been old residents of Rajarata,

4. Although the Kalinga and Pandya-Sinhalese dynasties, who
were interlocked in wars for supremacy at Polonnaruva, got
disengaged afier Kalavava and settled down in the two new
capitals of Nallur and Dambadeniya respectively, about a
hundred and fifty miles distant from each other, yet these
two factions continued their traditional hostilities for another
189 years for a different reason, as under the name of
Aryachakravartis and Sinhalese kings. Pandyas of India
supported their counterparts in Ceylon, while the Cholas
were on the side of the Aryachakravartis of Jaffna.

Jaffna wars with the newly emerging Sinhalese
kingdoms, about seven in number 1276-1467
(189 years)

These wars were not motivated from racial consideration as
Tamils fought on both sides, neither for annexation of territory nor
for supremacy of power as was at Polonnaruva. The new Jaffna
kingdom appeared to have got into difficulties over the problem
of maintaining itself with the poor resources obtainable from its
sandy soilin a dry climate. The Tamils in desperation formulated
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an easy going policy of making incursions into the richer and
more prosperous Sinhalese territories, to extract tributes by com-
pulsive force wherewith to maintain their infant kingdom. They
were invariably the aggressors. When tributes were refused or
dues got into arrears, the Aryachakravarti marched his armies
into the Sinhalese kingdom to enforce them. In this way frictions
arose between them for a hundred and eighty nine years. The
Aryachakravarti struck at a time when the Sinhalese opponent
was weakened by internal revolt, in many instances the Aryacha—
kravarti himself weakened the Sinhalese kingdom by inciting these
troubles before he attacked. The net result of these feuds was
the flight of the Sinhalese kings from one capital further away
to another capital which offered greater security. Frequent changes
of capitals from Dambadeniya to Yapahuva, Kurunegala, Gampola
and Kotte were due to these pressures. When the kings aband-
oned the lowlands for the mountain fasiness of Gampola, the
Aryachakravartis followed them even there, and waged three wars
against the kingdom of Gampola. The former South Indian invas—
ionsnow gave way for the invasions of the new Northern kingdom.

Jaffna war with Bhuvanaikabahu 1|

According to Tamil traditions, the first war of the new king-
dom of Jaffna was waged against Bhuvanaikabahu I in ¢ 1278, over a
dispute about the ownership of the pearl fishery of Marichikaddi situa-
ted on the border area between the two countries on the Gulf of
Mannar. The Aryachakravarti involved was Kulottungo, a brilliant
soldier of the day (N 110), who attacked when the Sinhalese king was
distracted with various troubles around him, revolts from several
Vanniya chiefs, and invasions from India, one led by Kalimgarayar,
apother by Codaganga, both Kalingas, they may have been set
up by the Kalinga king of Jaffna himself ‘“and perhaps a menace
was developing in the north which required greater vigilance than
could be given from Dambadeniya’’. (U. H.C. 631).

Under these adverse circumstances Bhuvanaikabahu I fled
from the rice plains of Dambadeniya to the rock fortress of
Yapahuva additionally fortified earlier by his elder brother to
meet such contingencies. The Aryachakravarti took this opport-
unity, struck hard and sacked Yapahuva winning a great victory.
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The pearl fishery was annexed by Jaffna as attested by Ibn-Batuta
who came to Jaffna in 1344 and noticed thay the pearl fishery
was in the possession of the Aryachakravarti. On an appeal from
Parakramabahu III, nephew and successor of the deceased king
the Pandya king intervened and persuaded the Aryachakravarti to
evacuate the captured lands, himself standing personal guarantee
for the payment of tribute. The loss of the pearl fishery must
have been rankling in the mind of Bhuvanaikabahu I who there-
fore tried to negotiate an alliance with the Sultan of Egypt,
possibly for a dual purpose (i) Egypt at this time was the
possessor of a powerful navy with which Bhuvanaikabahu could
equate the splendid naval power of the Aryachakravarti (ii) the
Arabs were experienced in pearl diving, the Sultan being the
master of the pearl fisheries in the Persian Gulf. The Arab pearl
fishers could also displace the Tamils who were also famous pearl
divers. The king died befere coming to an agreement. Parakra—
mabahu III who was raised to the throne after Aryachakravarti’s

departure removed the capital from Yapahuva to Kurunegala for
fear of the Tamils (LXXV).

The Sinhalese chronicles state that the invader who stormed
Yapahuva was an Indian Aryachakravarti “a Damila general®’
under the Pandya king Kulasekhera and that this incident took
place just after Bhuvanaikabahu’s death.

Bhuvanaikabahu Il

Son of tke former, shifted his capital from sacked and battle
scarred Yapahuva to rock enclosed Kurunegala and further pre-
viously fortified by Vijayabahu IV, on account of pressure for
tributes from Jaffna. (N 128 - C. H. C, 292).

3. Parakramabahu IV

Son of Bhuvanaikabatu of Kurunegala, was compelled to leave
Kurunegala to a place yet unknown, when the northern monarch
brought pressure on him for tributes, at a time when his king-
dom also was convulsed by an internal rebellion (C. H. C. P 292).
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4. (Malayalam Power in Rayigama and Gampola)
Jaffna wars with Gampola

After the flight of Parakramabahu 1Vin 1326 from Kurunegala
there was an interregnum of 15 years when a new dynasty was
formed jointly by two brothers, Btuvanaikabahu [V and Parakrama-
bahu V, at Gampola 1345). The latter with his seat at Dedigama
outlived his brother by eight years. They abandoned Kurunegala in
search of a better protection from the aggressions of the
Aryachakravartis and migrated from the lowlands to the uplands
(N 129), the mountain fastness of Gampola.

The Aryachakravartis followed them there too, and waged three
wars against the Gampola kingdom (LXXV).

When Bhuvanaikabahu settled down at Gampola, he discov-
ered to his discomfiture, three new situations.

1. He found in Gampola a long resident with powerful influ-
ence, a Malabar grandee by name Sema-Lankadhikara belon-
ging to the Menon (Menevan or Baron) clan from Malayalam.

2. Rayigama near Panadura was held for nine generations by
independent rulers called Alagakkonars or Alageswarans of Mala-
yalee origin. If you go backward nine generations (i. ¢ 360 years)
you arrive at a date 982 A. D. when Kerala soldiers were serving
Mahinda V. The ancestors of these warlike Alagakkonars
might have been these Kerala soldiers some of whom had
settled down later at Rayigama as peaceful merchants. The
name of the ninth ancestor was Nisamka-Alagakkonar who
came from Vanchi (Karuvur), now Tirukarur, capital of Ke:ala
near Cochin.

Kurappus — Source:- Raghavan (India in Ceylon history etc.
P 141) «They belonged to a small and conservative but unique
‘“Kuruppu Achchige’’ clan in Ceylon, name associated with
Kurup, a section of the Nairs of North Kerala. Both people have
the “Achchige’’ (mother) adjunct, as prename or surname revealin g
the matrilineal tradition imported from Malabar into the Ceylon
families. There is also a local village called Kuruppumulla near
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Panadura town in Rayigama Korale, the original hereditary
territory of both Kuruppus and Alagakkonars. Are the
Alagakkonars and Kuruppus tkerefore of the same or similar
stock from Malayalam ?

3. That there was rivalry between these two Malayalam clans of

Rayigama and Gampola into whose conflicts the king had to
be drawn in, as a matter of course. Sena-Lankadhikara set
up Alagakkonar II to blind Alagakkonar I by which act,
Rayigama kingdom was weakened. Rayigama in retaliation
is said to have set up the Aryachakravarti of Jaffna, Martandan
(Perum-Alan - great ruler) to invade Gampola which he succe-
ssfully accomplished, obtaining concessions, as fruits of victory.
The Aryachakravarti left his Tamil inecriptions at Kotagama in
praise of his own victory, (C. H.C. 297).

He planted Brahmin tax collectors and ordened tributes to
be brought to Jaffna from the highlands and lowlands and from
nine sea ports of tho Sinbalese kingdom (1360). When Parakrama.
bahu V fled to Ruhuna, the fortunes of Sena-Lankadhikara
declined while the prospects of the Alagakkonar improved.
At the time of the arrival of the Arab traveller Ibn-Batuta
from Tangiers in 1344, there were three kingdoms in Ceylon,
Gampola, Rayigama, the third being the oldest, the Jaffna
kingdom. He came to Ceylon through Jaffna getting the help
of the Aryachakravarti whom he called in Arab fashion.
‘the Sultan of Ceylon’* controlling the pearl fishery. The
Aryachakravarti’s realm, Ibn Batuta observes, extended down
to Mannar, who was also a powerful king in the sea, with
a huge fleet of merchant vessels filled with goods consigned
to Yemen in Arabia. The Aryachakravarti informed him that
he had an alliance with the Sultan of Coromandel coast.
The Cholas therefore assisted the Aryachakravartis in the
latter’s wars with the Gampola kingdom. the Aryachakravarti
at this time excelled in military and naval power. This great
Emperor was Martandan Singai Aryan.

Rise of the Alagakkonars in Gampola
The new king of Gampola was Vikramabahu III 1357 - 1374),

a son of Sena-lankadhikara by Parakramabahu’s sister, a union
was thus effected between the Sinhalese dynasty and the Malayalee
clan. Alagakkonar III became now a dominant figure in Gampola
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politics as well. In the same way Sena-Lankadhikara was a power
behind Bhuvanaikabahu 1V and Parakramabahu V, Alagakkonar
III succeeded the former minister as a power behind the thrones
of Vikramabahu III and Bhuvanaikababu V. Bhuvanaikabahu V
and Kumara-Alagakkonar IV were sons of Alagakkonar III by
marriage with a sister of Vikramabahu III (confluence of Menon
and Alagakkonar blood). Alagakkonar IIl now decided to lift his
wife’s country out of the quandary into which the Aryachakravarti
bad plunged Gampola, paying annual tributes to Jaffna for nine
years.

With patience and care Alagakkonar III prepared defensive
positions so that if he was defeated in his military undertakings
against the powerful Aryachakravarti, he could find perhaps safety
in the coastal fortresses he had built rather than be driven into
the Arabian sea. He built a fort at Rayigama and one at Kotte,
(former Darugama). He is said to have built the fort of Kotte
taking a number of years with workmen from Kanchipuram.

The fort was 1 mile x 3 mile in area defended by natural impa-
ssable marshes on all sides, with double lines of deep moats and
dams, walls all round, ramparts and bastions round the city, with
armour and store-houses for provisions like salt, coconut, paddy
and water to stand a long seige. The ensign of the Chola dynasty
«Tiger’’ was worked on all sides of the rampart, temples for
Vishnu, Vibhishana, Subramaniar and Lakshmanan were built
around for the spiritual protection of the city. This was Jayawa-
rdhana-Kotte (Fortand City of victory) that he built. Having
made all these preparations and all details attended to, Alagakkonar
caught and boldly hanged the tax collectors of the Aryachakra-
varti. “The very position of Kotte in the swamps near Colombo is
a proof of the straits to which the Sinhalese had been reduced and
there can be little doubt that the Jaffna kingdom was for a time para-
mount in the low country’’ (Codrington) (N 135)

The Aryachakravarti was ‘ckindled with rage like unto a
cobra'’, got Chola help and retaliated swiftly sending strong
forces by land and sea and occupied Colombo, Negombo, Wattala
and Chilaw probably with the aim of investing Kotte. Alagak-
konar attacked the enemy camps, killed and drove away the
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Jaffna army back, this was during Vikramabahu II} ‘s reign in
¢ 1369. Gampela had paid tributes to Jaffna for 9 years. The
Aryachakravarti involved in this war was Gunapooshana Singai-
Aryan, son of Martandan. The Aryachakravarti did not rest, he
sent a second and more powerful expedition to attack Gampola
and Kotte at one and the same date. The land army was
halted at Matale and annihilated, the other came by boats,
landed at Panadura in order to surround perhaps the Rayiga-
mpura fort eight miles into the interior, third army marched
towards Kotte to invest it but was caught and defeated at
Dematagoda and Gorakana, the boats of re-embarkation at Panadura
having been burnt. During this war Bhuvanaikabahu V fled on
the approach of this invasion to Rayigama. Alagakkonar IlII’s name
was sung laterin panegyrics as Sri-Lankadhisvara (Lord ef Sri Lanka),
after these victories. The great Alagakkonar died in 1390.

The second invasion must have occured between 1382—1390,
the Jaffna Aryachakravarti being Jayaweera - Aryan, a powerful
king who ruled over an extended kingdem which comprised
Puttalam and Mannar in the west, Trincomalee in the east and
the seven Vanni districts in between. He was possessed of a
powerful merchant fleet as well.

The fall of Gampola

The downfall of Gompola was mainly the result of exhaust-
ion that followed the three wars waged bythe Aryachakravartis.
Bhuvanaikabahu V who took fright at the approach of the
Jaffna invasion and fled the country, was not permitted to
re-enter any more his kingdom.

Rise of the second Rayigama kingdom, and the
return of Alagakkonars

1. Kumara Alagakkonar 1V, son of ‘the great Alagakkonar
succeeded his brother Bhuvanaikabahu V, removed his seat of
government from Gampola to hls ance5tral home Raylgama,'
becoming its first king.
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2. Vira Alagakkonat V (1387-1392) ousted within a year his cousin
Kumara Alagakkonar IV, in keeping with the matrilineal
custom of Malabar, being tbe son of the sister of the great
Alagakkonar, and reigned at Rayigama as ‘‘de-jure’’ ruler.

Hindu influence on Rayigama politics

" The national revival of Hinduism in south India under the
mighty Vijayanagara Empire (Sumita Kuruppu), had its
repercussions on nearby Ceylon. ;

In the kingdom of Rayigama, there happened to be at thistime
twe religious factions. Virabahu a Buddhist and member of the
Buddhist party, joined the clergy and reacted against the inroads
of Brahminism. He fought against the ‘*‘hostile designs of Tamils,
Moors and others’” (Codrington). The ruler Alagakkonar, as a
Hindu remained unacceptable to his Buddhist subjects.

T. V I, 622 — “Chinese chronicles in their description of
western countries mention that the king Alagakkonar who was
Vijayabahu VI was a native -of Soli and an adherent of the heterodox
faith’’, confirmed in a poem <¢Mayura Sandesa’’ where he is
described as a friend of Mahesvara (Siva), (Arunachalam-C. National
Review, 1906). *“Chinese claimed to have made unfruitful attempts
to persuade Vire-Alagakkonar to honour the teachings of the
Buddha which the Maha Theros had previously failed to succeed”’,
(U. C. H. 631). Under these circumstances Virabahu vanquished
his elder brother Vira Alagakkonar V amd succeeded the latter to
the throne. Vira Alagakkonar fled from Ceylon to the Vijayanagara
country and lived there as an exile for five years. He returned
to Ceylon probably with the assistance of that mighty power,
with a Tamil army, defeated Virabahu and became this time by
right of conquest ‘‘de facto’’ king. He assumed the title of
Vijayababu VI and ruled from his native home Rayigama.
Following this episode, Hindu festivals and practices became in-
creasingly popular not only with the people of this kingdom
but also in the kingdom of Kotte that followed Rayigama.

T. VI, P 413-415:- °Having learnt by experience, the
exposure and insecurity of successive capitals which had been
built by former sovereigns in the lowlands, Parakramabahu 1T
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founded the c¢ity of Kandy (Sirivardhamapura) in the midst of
mountains (as a reserve citadel) to which he removed the saered
Dalada. To use a simile of the native historian, ¢this was tco
late, fencing the ficld while the oxen were within engaged in
devouring the corn”. The power of the Malabars had become so
powerlully rooted and had so irresistibly extended itself that one
after another, each of the earlier capitals were abandoned to them
and the seat of  government carried further to the south.
Polonnaruva arose in the eighth and ninth centur.es when Anuradha-
pura was found no longer tenable against strangers. Dambadeniya
(1235) became -a retreat from Polonnaruva, This being deemed
insecure was exchanged in 1303 for Yapahuva. Yapahuva was
deserted owing to attack from Malabars in 1319, it went to
Kurunegala and then to Gampola and in 1410 to Jayawardhanapura
(Kotte). Such frequent removals are evidence of the alarm and
despondency excited by the forays and encroachments of the
Malabars who from their stronghold of Jaffna exercised undisputed
domination over the northern coasts on both sides of the Island.
The langnage of the north of the Island from Chilaw in the
west coast to Batticaloa in the east, is chiefly and in the majority
of localities exclusively Tamil®’;
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VII

VIJAYABAHU VI

Geiger, translator of the Mahavamsa .comments in page 215
{Note 1, Culvamsa 1I-1953) that “the Mahavamsas have nothing
to say about the events which preceded the reign of Parakrama-
bahu VI’ “passing over here a very remarkable episode in the
history of Ceylon, a knowledge of which we owe above all to
Chinese sources.”” Geiger adds, “Vira Alagesvara under the name
of Vijayabahu VI seized the royal dignity in battle with his
brother Virabahu.”” The Chinese came into conflict with the
Sinhalese ruler who is called A-le-ko—na-r (Alagakkonat) and
took the king away with them as prisoner. The Rajavali calls
the king taken prisoner by the Chinese as Vijayabahu. Geiger
further comments “here then instead of the family name the
adopted name is given’’, (P 214. Noie 2 C Vn).

C. Brito (LXXV) quotes in 1879 Knighton (P 164), “sthat Vijaya-
bahu VIascended the throne in 1398, expelled several gangs of
Tamils who -were roaming through the country i search of pillage.”

Tennent (Vn, page 417 — 1860) :-

*Cheng-ho, Chinese commander was waylaid together with
his followers by the Sinhalese king, Vijayabahu VI.”’ The king
{whom the Chinese historian calls A-le-ko-nae-wih) Alagakkonar
prepared to resist’’ on Cheng-ho's second visit. “Cheng-ho and
his followers succeeded in seizing the capital and bore off the
sovereign together with his queen and children, his officers of
state and his attendants conveying on board the ship as prisoners
to China. (Tennent Vi, P 623 & 624):— “Cheng-ho presented - them
to the Emperor who out of compassion ordered them to be sent
back to their country on the condition that <the wisest of the
family should be chosen king”. Seay-pa-nea-na (in Chinese
original), Ming dynasty records show afterwards as Pu-lo-ko-ma,
who was accordingly elected and the choice being confirmed, he
was sent to his native country duly provided with a seal of investiture,
as a vassal of the Empire under the style of Sri Parakramabahu VI,
(compare Teonent Vi, P 624). It is highly improbable that a
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mighty emperor would have appointed to such an important post
as his vassal king without interviewing him in the Chinese court
and satisfying himself in person.

Ceylon from this period continued to pay an annual tribute
to China. Further in the Alagakkonar family table (CV II, P 308
Geiger-1953) Vira- Alagakkonar is also shown as Vijayabahu VI,
also in the general genealogical table in the same edition
Introduction XIV, Vijayabahu VI was inserted as the 166th Sinhalese
king, with Vijayabahu V preceding and Vijayabahu VII succeed-
ing in this time table. This shows that Vira Alagakkonar V ruled

as the 166th king of Ceylon (1405-1411), firmly under the dynastic
title of Vijayabahu VI. In the dynastic table of the kings of Ceylon,

(Casie Chitty-Ceylon Gazetteer 1834, P 67) Vijayabahu VI or
Virababu (1398) was placed as the 158th king, Vijayabahu V was
the 153th and Vijayababu VII of Kotte as the 165th king.

Some present day historians ignore the ever existence of the reign
of Vijayabahu VI, (an Alagakkonar) the 166th king and skip
over in their own dynastic tables from Vijayabahu V of Kurunegala to
Vijayabahu VII of Kotte (father of Mayadunne) adjusting this
incongruity that ensued, by retitling the latter as Vijayabahu VI
or as both Vijayabahu VI and VII,

Paternity of Parakramabahu VI

It is recorded that it is not known who his father was.

While Parakramabahu’s mother was identified as Sunetra-Devi,
a Kalinga princess, on whose memory her son Parakramabahu VI -
had erected Sunetra-parivenu in Pepiliyana (CV 216 and foot
note 3), the establishment of his father’s identity became a problem
as his antecedents were not mentioned in the Culavamsa, giving
thereby an occasion in history for contradictions. Itis not nor-
mal for any king especially a great king like Parakramabahu VI
to arise from nowhere, except to have had some form of royal
connection with at least onc of his predecessors. It is surprising
that the fatherhood of such celebrated kings as Vijayabahu 1,
Parakramabahu I, Vijayabahu III and Parakramabahu VI should
" have been in doubt, probably buried in mystery (refer U, N. C. 615,
Fn 14), in promiscuous circumstances of polygamy and harem%
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that were prevalent everywhere in the royal families of the middle
ages. The most powerful faction at the close of the Gampola
period were the Alagakkonars, the first regular king of Malaya-
lee origin was Bhuvanaikabahu V, son of Alagakkonar III.

As Parakramabahu VI wasa creature of the Chinese emperor
and had to supply tributes to China, the Chinese naturally had
direct interest in him. Chinese chronicles therefore give us more
intimate and detailed account of Parakramabahu VI’s origin and
ways of ascension to the throne.

Chinese incursibns and the fall of the
second Rayigama kingdom

During Vira Alagakkonar V’ s reign the Chinese Admiral
Cheng-Ho who was scouring the southern seas in search of tributes
touched on Ceylon, but returned with bitter memories instead
of tributes, driven away in battle by the powerful Vira Alaga-
kkonar. Cheng-Ho returned back a second time in J410 with
stronger reinforcements, landing probably at the port of Panadura
(U.H.C. P 652 Fn 56), marched interior to Rayigama defeated
this time Vira Alagakkonar “caught in the Chinese stratagem
through his karma in a previous birth’’, «“teok Vira Alagakkonar
together with his queen and his children, his officers of state
and his attendants as prisoners. He brought away with him spoils
which were long afterwards exhibited at Tsing-leo monastery in
Nanking’’, (Tennent Vi, P 623 - reproduced from Chinese
chronicles - Fn 1).

Ho’s visit to Ceylon is commemorated in an inscription on
a rock in Galle dated 1409 (discovered in 1911) written in three
languages, Tamil, Chinese and Persian (UHC P 72) suggesting
that Tamii was one of the international languages of this period
and probably. also the court language of the Alagakkonars as
was found to be the case with the next kingdom of Kotte. The
Emperor’s objective appears to have been not acquisition of
human personages but tributes. He therefore mercifully set free
the captives, imposing on them two conditions (1) to chose a
new king from among them, the most worthy member of their
tribe (U. H.C. 666), (2) who should be under the Emperor’s
suzerainty paying regular tributes to China, Vira - Alagakkonar
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who was non-persena-grata with the Chinese, because of his
hostile conduct towards Cheng-Ho while the latter was in Ceylon,
was naturally excluded. The unanimous choice of the captives
fell according to the records of the Ming dynasty on Pu-la-ko-ma
(Chinese sound name) for Parakramabahu, whom the Emperor
nominated as a worthy member of the tribe. The tribe that was
mentioned in Chinese writings was “Souli’* probaly Cera or Ala-
gakkonar to whom according to the Chinese, not only the Ala-
gakkonars but Parakramabahu also belonged, Parakramabahu
returned with the seals of office from China (U. H. C. 669).
(Tennent 1, P 417) :~ *The wisest of the family Seay-pa-nea-na
(Chinese original) was elected king and the choice being confirmed
by the Emperor, he was sent to his native country, duly provided
with the seal of investiture as a vassal of the Emperor under
the style of Sri Parakramabahu VI’’. He continued to pay tributes
to China till 1448 (T Vi, P 417). Here it is seen that Parakra-
mabahu was present in the Chinese court with the other captives
where he received personally the instruments of accession from
the Emperor.

Chinese had overall control of Ceylon during the period of
tributes. “*Cheng-Ho . issued in 1430 a proclamation for the
pacification of Ceylon’’, and at somewhat later periods edicts
were promulgated by the Emperor of China for the government
of the Island T Vi, P 625).

Parakramabahu returned from China backed up by Chiness
naval forces, crowned king in 1412 by Cheng-Ho at Rayigama,
his ancestral home and seat of government of his predecessors
and father, Alagakkonar V. The Chinese returned him to the
place from where he was taken away as captive. The king was
also called Vira Parakramabahu in conformity with the special
title of his father Vira-Alagakkonar or Vira-Vijayabahu (U.H.C. 670).
According to Couto the Portuguese historian and Rajavali, Para-
kramabahu VI was the son of the ruler taken as captive to China.
It is also stated in another passage in Rajavali that «Parakra-
mabahu VI was the son of one Vijayabahu taken as captive by
the Chinese’’, the ruler taken captive was a king, the sixth of
that line - Vijayabahu VI, the dynastic title of Vira—Alagakko-
nat V., Parakramabahu VI was the son of Vijavabahu by umion
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in marriage with the Kalinga queen Sunetra-Devi and through
his Kalinga marriage “Parakramabahu VI belongs to the family
of Kalinga Magha, the first Aryachakravarti of Jafina (C.H.C..
306). Tennent in Vi, page 417 confirms thus :- “Cheng-Ho was
waylaid by the Sinhalese king Vijayabahu VI. Seya-pa-nea-na,
(the other Chinese name for Parakramabahu) was selected and
his choice being confirmed, he was seat to his native country
duly provided with a seal”.

Further proof of this line of argumentis provided in Parakra-
mabahu’s subsequent movements. Parakramabhu VI returned to
Rayigama, the ancestral home of the Alagakkonars where Vira
Alagakkonar his father, and also his uncle ruled, perhaps for
nostalgic reasons. After ruling bere for three years, he shifted
his seat of government to Kotte, the citadel built by his famous
grand uncle probably for the same sentimental reasons. Another
matter of vital importance was that Kotte was further away from the
rival and hostile kingdom of Jaffna which had given lots of trouble
in the past to the previous Sinhalese kings, from where ke could
jump off with more sccurity for the conquest of Jaffna which he
ultimately accomplished. Another reason may be to wrest the Arabian
trade from the hands of the Arabs which was centred on Kotte.
The above line of approach leads one to a reasonable assumption
that Parakramabahu VI was himself an Alagakkonara, son of Vira
Alagakkonar or Vijayabahu VI. Some modern historians who do
not agree with this theory did not include Vijayabahu VI’s reign

in their dynastic tables.

Codrington (P. 85, &, 99) is of the opinion that Vira Alagakk-
onar on his return from India ruled at Rayigampura under the
regular dynastic name of Vijayabahu VI. Parakramabahu is said
to be the son of aking Vijayabahu and his queen Sunetra-Devi
a Kalinga, Vijayabahu who was carried off by the Chinese along
with his wife and children (P. 85). Codrington further remarks
that Vira Alagakkonar and Parakramabahu VI are “Souli”, of one
race, i.e. Malabar and not the well know Chelas. In Codrington’s
list of sovereigns (1947) the dynastic table is shown thus;-

Vira Alagakkonar ;
il i } 1397—1409 Rayigama
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In Codrington’s reference to his authorities Virabahu is called
Vijayabahu and was given as father of Parakramabahu. In fact
Vira Alagakkonar and Vijayabahu are known also as Virabahn or
Vira Vijayabahu. (L. E. Blaze (117);- “king and queen with many
others were taken prisoners to China and that the crown of Czylon
should be takem from Vira or Vijayabahu and given to the wisest
of the captive kings’s family’’. ‘‘Parakramabahu the abode of
wisdom and manly virtues’” (CVu, P 213), was given .the throne
of Ceylon.

5. Conquest of the Jaffna kingdom

After Parakramabahu VI had cleared his country of all rebell-
ions and saboteurs and made Kotte a powerful kiagdom, he set
his heart on the annihilation of the kingdom of Jaffna once and
for all. The Sinhalese chroniclers laid great emphasis on this
campaign because its existence had been a perpetual menace to
the Sinhalese for 112 years from 1390. 3

Selection of Sémpahap Perumal as C'/C
of Kotte army

Early in the reign of Parakramabahu VI, a Chola Panickar
of princely status had come from Chola country to the king’s
court. The king impressed with his able qualities took him i in-
to service and married him to a Sinhalese lady of rank. By this,
union were born two sons brilliant in military affairs. Parakra-
mabahu brought them up in his palace along with the Crown
Prince, as adopted sons. He appointed the elder brother, Sempahap-
Perumal as C/C of the Kotte army and assigned him -the task
of subjugating the northern kingdom, sending a message through
his commander to the Aryachakravarti that it was not becoming,
that there should be two rulers in Ceylon. The General’s preli-

minary task was to bring the Jaffna kingdom to the borders of
the Sinhalese territories, by removing the buffer states of the

cighteen Vanniates that stood between these two countrxes, to’
make the campaign easier. TheVanniars were independent rulers
who paid tributes to either Kotte or Jaffna, according to, who
was more powerful ata particular time. Sempahap—Pcrumal succ—
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essfully reduced the vanniates. According to Tamil traditions
(Y.V.M.), Parakramabahu VI detecting early the great soldierly
qualities of Sempahap-Perumal feared that the presence of Sempahap-
Perumeal at Kotte might spark off a struggle between the latter
and his own descendants for the throne of Kotte. For this reason the
king gave Sempahap-Perumal an assignment to be far away from
the capital, distracting himself in mulitary activities in the wilds of
Vanni at the farthest end of his kingdom. "

When the subjugation of the Vanniates was completed,
Sempahap-Perumal was not permitted to return home. The king
issued fresh orders to the General to go still further away and
conquer the powerful Jaffna kingdom or get killed in this attempt,
Jaffna having now become a boundary territory of Kotte. He
first sent probing raids into the Jaffna villages and got valuable
information about the size, disposition of the Jaffna army, and the
terrain. He now marched his army along the western coast via Chilaw
and Puttalam and beyond through territories which were populous
villages. Tamils, Tulus and Vauniars joined the advancing column.
When the army reached the edge of the mainland, it divided itselfs
one column pushing towards Poonakeryn, the other was directed
against Javakotte (Paranthan) both on the mainland. Both armies
were probably the two arms of a pincer movement to encircle Nallur.

He overpowered a strong Vijayanagara garrison stationed at
Javakotte, left behind after the defeat of Yalpanam by the Vijaya—
nagara empire (1435). The army must have been ferried now to
the peninsula across Elephant Pass waters. The Tamil army started
retreating to Jaffna, Sempahap-Perumal subduing all opposition
along his line of advance. A northern Muslim who was conspicuous
in this battle made a personal combat with the General, who
lanced and killed this warrior, pinned his corpse to the point of
his lance, carcered his black steed through the streets, striking
terror into the enemy ranks.

In spite of all these misfortunes, the backbene of the troops
of the Aryachakravarti composed of Tamils and Malabars defended
their capital with utmost courage in house to house fighting
until the capital capitulated. ‘“The streets of Jaffna looked like a
rivulet of blood’’, Jaffna at this time was a populous city
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inhabited by various races, with wide streets, stoteyed houses,
fine gardens, palaces and Hindu temples”. Kanagasuriya Singai
Aryan the defeated ruler escaped to India with his queen and
two sons leaving behind his brother and nephew who were taken
to Kotte as prisoners. While in India, the exiled monarch put
his sons in a royal school at Thirukovil and went all over India
on pilgrimage which included Benares and Tirukoneswaram. After
2 sojourn of 16 years, when Bhuvanaikabahu VI was troubled
with Sinhalese uprisings in Kotte probably because he was a
Tamil king, Kanagasuriyam returned back.

6. Reconquest of the Jaffna kingdom by the
Aryachakravarti

He came back with anarmy offered by the Naiks of Madura,
recovered his kingdom with the valorous assistance of his soldierly
son Pararajasekaram, who jumped like a lion upon the Viceroy of
Jaffna, Vijayababu, and killed him. In appreciation of the signal
services of his son, Kapagasuriyam handed over the throne to him
during his own life time. It is an irony of fate that Bhuvanaikababu
VI who conguered Jaffna as a soldier, should have lost it in
his' own reign. The Aryachakravarti line of kings was now re-
established and lasted another one and a half centuries, This
was the last war  between the Tamils of the north and the

Sinhalese people.

Amity between the Sinhalese and Jaffna people.

With the appearance of the Portuguese in Ceylon, the Sinhalese
and Tamils became friends in adversity, Sangili Sekarajasekaram
sent armies more than twice to the help of Mayadunne in his
long drawn out struggle with the Portuguese at Kotte. Vidiya
Bandara a sworn enemy of the Portuguese fled from Portugusse
oppression to Jaffna as a refugee, met Sangili in Veerakaliamman
Koyil in Nallur, made a solemn pact with Sangili before the deity,
to help each other against the Portuguese scourge. Vidiya Ban-
dara was killed in an accidental explosion soon after, and Sangili
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bullt the Poothafayar Koyil in memory of his dead friend. Accor-
ding to LXXVIII Vidiya Bandara retired to Jaffna with his son
Vijayapala to enlist Tamil help, but at Tharakkuli both were
murdeted by Tamils for wealth.

in 1591 Puviraja Pandaram IT who went to the help of the
king of Kandy with military assistance against the Portuguese, did
so at the fisk of his own life and kingdom. Portuguese revenge
made them invede Jaffna a second time; Gago the Tamil comma. |
ndet and nephew of the king was killed near Veerakaliamman
Koyil. In the greaf battle that followed between Kandasamy and
Veerakaliamman koyils, where the strong troopers and armed guards
of the king took the fleld, they fell fighting forthe cause which they held
dear. A Yogi leader, and a priest of the temple also lost their
lives it this action. Puviraja Pandaram sacrificed thus his life and
¢town of Jaffna, in trying to save the Sinhalese from the
Portuguese,

v



VIII

KOTTE

This kingdom provides the reader with an interesting chapter
with its undertows and crosscurrents of foreign influences., Its
complexity makes the writer to break up the subject into twe
main heads, and different sub-heads.

1. Period of the reign of Parakramabahu VI,
2. Period of civil war and foreign interests.

Parakramabahu VI’s reign

The following principal events took place in his reign.

1. Vietory over the mighty Vijayanagara empire, which earned
the king great fame in the east. The Governor of Madura
under Devaraya ii made a double pronged attack against
both (llam) Sinhalese kingdom and (Yalpanam) the Taml
kingdom. The attack on Kotte was repulsed, while the war
against Jaffna kingdom was a success, and they left behind
a Vijayanagara garrison at Javakotte to ensure the payment
of tributes by the Aryachakravarti.

2., Prevention of the secession of the Kandyan province. The
younger brother of Sempahap Perumal, (Jayaweera alias
Kadaikumar) was sent to quell this rebellion. He later used
tact to bring round this province within the fold of the Kotte
kingdom.

3. Integration of the Karava caste into the Sinhalese race (vide
Chapter IV),

4. Conquest bf the Jaffna kingdom (vide Chapter VII).

5. Arrival of a Chola Panickar from India and establishment
of the Chola line of Sinhalese kings.
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Social and cultural environment of the court of
Kotte.

This chapter is of interest to the Tamils for various feasons.
King Parakramabahu VI, who had strong leanings towards Hinduism
gave equal treatment to both Hinduism and Buddhism. The upper
strata of society were Hindu. According to Codrington, Tamil
was the court language of the Kotte kingdom. The King built
a temple for Pattini three storeys high. He gave several donat-
ions to Munneswaram temple in deeds written in Tamil. Tamils
lived in Kotte sharing with others in foreign trade. Brahmins
flocked to his palace and performed Homa rites. Parakramabahu IX
also gave support to Munneswaram temple. Bhuvanaikabahu VII
made attestation in both Sinhalese and Tamil. Rajasingha I be-
came a Hindu king. He built the inner shrine of Kataragama
Devale in 1581, and also an artistic granite Bhairava (Berenda)
temple at Talduva which was destroyed shortly after his death
by the Portuguese. He gave over Adam’s Peak to the manage-
ment of Hindu sannyasis, a devotee of Goddess Pattini for whom
he built forty eight Pattini temples all over his realm. The court
was influenced by Hindu ideas (Raghavan 38). The funeral
obsequies of Parakramabahu VI were conducted according to Bra-
hminical rites, (U. H. C. 677).

Sunetra—devi, mother of Parakramabahu VI was a Kalinga princess,
while his father and himself were “Souli’* meaning Alagakkonar
or. Malabar. His daughter, born in 1432, had a Tamil name
Ula-Kudaya-Devi, (meaning in Tamil, Goddess belonging to this
world). She further married a Tamil prince from Chola country
by name Nannuru-tunayar, a scholar, (Raghavan-Karava P3). By
this union they had a son who was therefore a Tamil with the
Tamil name Pracuro-Pandar, who later succeeded Parakramabahu VI
as Jayabahu II.

Pracuro-Pandar’s sister was Manicka-Pandar, who sponsored
Sempahap-Perumal as successor to her brother. This is the first
time the title of Pandar or Bandara made its appearance in Si-
nhalese history with Pracuro—Pandar and his sister Manicka-Pandar,
through perhaps their Tamil father Nannurutunayar, again the
son of Sempahap-Perumal was known as Caipur Pandar.
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Chola line of S$inhalése kings of Kotte.

A Chola Panickar, who cameé from South India edtly in
Parakramabahu’s reign was admiitted ifito the service of the royal
palacé because of his “gredt actvity and wisdom’’ dnd mafried
to a Sinhalese lady of rank. Two sons born of this marriage wefe
Semipahtap-Perumal and Kadaikumar. whe were brought up in the
palace by the king as his adopted soiis in the company of the
Crown Prince. These two brothers became later distinguished
military comimafiders and kings. Semipahap-Pefumal who as Bhu-
vanaikabatiu VI ruled Ceylon was resistéd by & Sinhaless- peraliya
(revolty because as suggested; his father was of Malayales
extzaction (U. H. C. 679). :

Sempahap-Perumal and Kadaikumar (“younger pririce’’ iny
Tamil) weré the progenitors of thé Chold line of Sinhalese kitigs
of Kotte, Sémpaliap-Perumal bécarie latet Bhuvanaikabahu VI
and Kadaikuniar, Vira Parakfamabahu VIII. Sempahap-Perumal’s
lineage énded with the reign of his soti; Caipur-Pandar (Pamdita
Parakramabahu VII) who was miurdeted with three other Bandaras;
his supporters. Kadaikumar, brothér of the famous Sempahap-
Perumal, éstablished a longer line of poweérful set of monarchs
through his youngést son Vijayabahu VII, who was the father
of Bhuvanaikabahu Vil, Mayadunna Bandara and Rayigama
Bandata; while Mayadunna’s son was Tikiri- Bandara (Rajasingha I,
ihe Lion King):

Peria-Pandaram who was more popularly kdown by the Catholic
fiame of Don Juan Dhafmapala, was a grandson of Bhuvatika<
bahu VII and the son of Vidiya Bandara, the lattef a Chola or
Jaffna Tamil prince (Ref. N. 161) by Samudra Devi (in Tamil,
“Ocearr goddess’’); daughter of Bhuvanaikabaliu V1I2 Vidiya
Nandara (according to LXXVII) was the son of the daugliter of
the king of Madampe by a Tamiil fathér from Chola. This Chola
Sinhaless dynasty ended in one¢ liie with Peria-Pandaram and ofi
the other with Tikiri<Bandara:

Pandaram and Perumal.

 The Tamil fank name Pandaram, equal to thé rank of 4 Baron,
beécame in Ceylon Pandar; Bandar, Bandara and in its shorfened™*
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form Banda, for instance Rajasingha I was known as both Tikiri
Bandara and Tikiri Banda. Pracuro- Pandar, later king Jayabahu II
and Manicka-Pandar, son and daughter of Nannuru-tunayar and
Ula- Kudaya-devi, were Pandarams and Tamils. The other name
of Mannam Peruma Mohotilal of Rajasingha’s time, was Aritta
Kivendu Perumal. Nittamuditta Perumal, a Chola prince claimed
to be a first cousin of Parakramabzhu VI.

Sempahap Perumal’s son was Caipur Bandar, the grandsons
of Vira Parakramabahu VIII (Kadaikumar) were Mayadunna and
Rayigama Bandaras. Mayadunna Bandara’s son was Tikiri Band-
ara. Don Juan Dharmapala the Catholic king of Kotte was
Peria Pandaram, »

Vikramabahu, the first king of Kandy was a near relative
of the Chola line of kings of Kotte (P- 68). Bandara seems to
have infiltrated among his descendants such as Karalliyadde
Bandara and his daughter Maha-Biso-Bandara (Dona Catherina) and
perhaps among such commoners as Virasundera Bandara and
Konnappu Bandara. The Tamil suffixes, Perumal and Bandara-
came into Ceylon mainly among the Chola line of Sinhalese kings.
- Vidiya Bandara, father of Peria Pandaram (Dharmapala) and his
brother Tamitta Suriya Bandara hailed from Cholaland or Jaffna.
Tamitta Suriya Bandara who was minister to Dharmapala was
also known as Tamitta Sambara Perumal, Tamil name
{Thamothy Sithampara Perumal). Pandarams and Perumals, appear
to have been interchangeable and of the same rank as shown
in Tamitta Suriya Bandara) and Tamitta Sambara Perumal, being
names of the same person. *Perumal” appearing among the
Karava caste is discussed elsewhere. These Cholaline of kings
carried in their names, blood, habits and customs, Tamil Hindu
culture along with Buddhist faith.

Among the rulers of Jaffpa in the 16th century were Puviraja
Pandaram I and II, the former son of Sangili. Pandarapillais were
tax collectors in Jaffna.

Two unfortmnate events rocked the Kotte kingdom and brought
about its ultimate downfall.

1. The appearance of the Portuguese in Colombo (1505).
2. Civil war and foreign interests.
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The Partition of Kotte (I521)

Vijayabahu VII attempted to pass over his kingdom to an adop-
ted son over the heads of his ewn three sons, whereupon the three

princes unitedly rose against the supporters of this plot, the
prominent part being taken by the youngest son Mayadunna who

was the most daring and cleverest of the three. The father was
murdered by an assassin bired by the princes. As Mayadunna
played successfully the greater part in this opposition, the nobles
decided to give a share of the kingdom to Mayadunna as a
reward for his valauble services.

They divided therefore the kingdom among the three sons,
giving Bhuvanaikabahu VII the eldest, Kotte with its littoral,
Rayigama Bandara the second son was given Rayigama, while
Sitavaka was presented to Mayadunna Bandara. The ambitious
Mayadunna was not satisfied with his share as he wished to be
the king of an undivided Kotte. Rayigam Bandara having died
earlier, Mayadunna first swallowed up Rayigama. What was left
now for him was to launch a civil war against his eldest brother
Bhuvanaikabahu VII, to take by force Kotte to which task he
applied himself boldly. When the Portuguese came to Ceylon in
1505 there were in Ceylon three kingdoms.

1. The oldest was the Jaffna kingdom (1215) under the great
Pararajasekeram.

2. Next was Kotte (1412) under Parakaramabahu VILL (Sempahap
-Perumal’s younger brother).

3. The youngest was the Kandyan Ringdom (1475) under its
first king Vikramabahu

Portuguese and Moors

The Portuguese came in contact with the Moors for the
first time in early medaeval period, in the former’s own country
which the Moors overran and imposed their yoke. The enmity
between these two races took roots in Portugal soil itself. It is
from their Arab masters that they heard first of the flourishing
spice trade in the Indian ocean. In the process of fierce wars
to free themselves from Arab oppression, the Portuguese developed
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a hardy and adventurous spirit, which made them round the
Cape of Good Hope, to come in contact with the Arabian sea
centuries later, “and confront their old traditional enemies the
Arabs, in the reign of Dharmaparakramabahu IX. (LXXVI):-
Francisco de Almeida whom the Portuguese sent over unknown
seas ‘in search of the Moors, their enemies in the carrying trade,
arrived in Ceylon and built a fortress at Colombo. The Moors
laid seige to it in 1517 and again in 1520 but were unsuccessful’’.
(LXXVII) :-“Mayadunna courted the alliance of the Zamorin of
Calicut and other Tamils and brought a greater number of people
belonging to the tribe of Wadak Caros (Malabars) from Colilak
(Calicut) and with the assistance of the Moorish chiefs, ‘Cudely
and Paichi Marikkar invaded Kotte, but the Wadak Caros were
totally defeated’’. ' :

The Portuguese swept off the Arabian sea, the Moor fleet
and captured their .trading posts of Goa, Calicut, Colombe, etc.,
the Arabs as well as Malabars were thus reduced to abject penury
and desperation.

Malabars and» Moors

As the story goes the last of the Cheruman Perumals
(a Zamorin of Calicut), Bhaskaran Ravi Varman dreamt one night
of ¢the splitting of the mcon’”. Uddin, head of a party of
Muslims who travelled to Travancere from Ceylon explained the
meaning of the dream which was *“a change of religion’* whereupon
Perumal became a Muslim, changing his name to Abdur Rahaman
Sauri, went out and settled in Mecca. From there, he sent
further Arab settlements and built eleven mosques in Malabar.
Such was the friendship and partnership in pepper trade between
the Arabs and Malabars. Pepper was in great demand by the
Greeks and Romans as preservative of meat during their winter
months. The Arabs therefore brought lots of money to Malabar
by this export trade, so they were very welcome and were
encouraged by the rulers to marry local women and settle down
in the Malabar coast,

The Zamorins went so far as to order each Mukkuva family
to make one or two of their membersto become Muslims. The
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products of the union of Moor husbands with Malabar women
were called Mapilas (bridegrooms), the Mopla race.

Colombo

Colombo is a Portuguese name not in any way connected
with Columbus. This word was derived from the Arab name
of Colombo, “Kolamba, Kalambu, Kolombo and Colombo which
meant in Arabic ‘“ a splendid harbour’’. Many years before the
arrival of the Portuguesein the east, Colombo was a Moor town,
inhabited by descendants of Arab pirates and mariners, grown
out of Galbokka (present Galle Buck) with a safe anchorage.
There was an Abysinian garrison of five hundred men maintained
at this time by a Moor pirate. The majority of the population
were Moors, engaged in cinnamon trade, Colombo being famous
for quality cinnamon. The Portuguese found on arrival, a mosque,
a Muslim cemetery and a court of justice administering Muslim
law. ‘‘Maradana was said to be the name of a Muslim religious
dignitary’’. There is also at present a ‘‘Maradana’ in the
Moor townlet of Beruwela, ‘“‘Colombo is now a city resultant
of European colonial enterprise’’.

There were bangasalas (store houses) in the premises of the
present Bankshall street, the latter name derived from the former.
With the Portuguese, arose Pettah, Fort, Kayman gate, Kayman
is not the name of a Portuguese gentleman but a corruption
of a Red Indian word for crocodiles, that the Portuguese deposited
in the moat for protective purposes against enemy trespassers.
St. Stephen, St. Sebastian and St. Thomas (Santupitiya, present
Gintupitiya), were Portuguese hill bastions. When Ibn Batuta
an Arab traveller from Morocco came to Ceylon in 1344, he
found Colombo one of the biggest and most beautiful towns in
Ceylon. The Moors evacuated the city during the Alagakkonar—
Jaffna wars of the Gampola period, to return back when the
storm blew off.

At one stage the Muslims were driven out of Colombo by
Bhuvanaikabahu probably on orders from his Portuguese masters.
Muslim quarters were burnt by Brito, the Portuguese captain
of Colombo. Many of the Muslims founded settlements outside
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Colombo, whole villages of them in, Sabaragamuwa, Matara,
Kalutara, Alutgama and Beruwela. The hills of Hultsdorf,
Wolfendhal, and Bloemendhal were Dutch additions. Colombo
became the capital of the Portuguese in 1554. Before the 15th
century, Colombo was only a pirate station, Mantota being the
main port of Ceylon.

The civil war and foreign pressures

The civil war in Kotte presented a grand opportunity for
foreigners to take sides in order to promote their own self-
interests. Bhuvanaikabahu who gave shelter to the Portuguese
when they were driven by winds and waves into Colombo, had
to beg for help from the Portuguese against Mayadunna, and the
Portuguesz became now the king’s masters, tightening their
squeeze on Kotte and increasing gradually their own hold on the
Jand. Mayadunna pleaded with the Colombo Muslims to invoke
the assistance of the latters’ friends, the Malabars, who were
only too ready to seize this opportunity, splendid from their
stand point, to carry. out sheir hostilities against the Portuguese.
As Goa was converted into a great naval base of the East by
the Portuguese in proximity to the Malabar coast, the Zamorin’s
fleet was bottled up into inactivity along the Malabar coast.

1t therefore became imperative for the Malabars and Moors to
make Kotte their main base of military operations to drive the
Portuguese away from the East. So the civil war just suited all
the participant parties. The Zamorin of Calicut started sending
captains and generals to Mayadunna, along with several
expeditionary forces. At onec stage in 1537 they sent a large fleet
of fifty one ships, five hundrcd guns and two thousand men.
The Zamorin’s fleet also assisted in interrupting the Portuguese
supply line from Goa to Colombo. This civil war went on with
all fury during a period of 64 years from 1524 to 1588.

With all this profuse aid from Malabar and the military skill
of Mayadunna and Rajasingha, the Zamorin‘s navy interrupting
additionally the supply sea lane of the Portuguese from Goa to
Colombo, the father and son were only able to seize some peripheral
territories of Kotte and the capture in the end of the fort of
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Kotte after a hard fought struggle. Colombo was tiow the only
prize. He, who took Colombo became the possessor of the Kotte
Kingdom. Rajasingha tried his last gamble with two sieges of
two years duration each, to capture Colombo, both of them

ending in fiasco.

After the conquest of Xandy he made a final and determined
attack on Colombo with long and thorough preparations and
great hopes of success. Rajasinghia was a monarch who was
the first to practise in Ceylon the modern type of scientific
warfare. He conducted the war with all attention to details and
engineering skill, deploying all the forces and resources at his
command from all his territories, Muslims, Kaffirs, and Tamils
joined in the fray.  He was a military engineer who ‘used
locally made guns, laid land mines, drained the Beira lake
which was a natural moat round the fort of Colombo,  for the
safe passage of his infantry.

His army took its stand on high ground-among the marshes
of Dematagoda, Maligakanda and Maligawatte and made four
separate assaults, ramming the hill forts of :St. Sebastian,
St. Stephen, and St. Thomas which defended the port of
Colombo. The city held out because of the superiority of
modern fire power and new reinforcements from Goa. Raja-
singha was forced therefore to raise the siege and retiremto
Kandy as a defeated king to face the last of his misfortunes,
the loss of the kingdom of Kandy, and his death in 1593.

Don Juan Dharmapala (PeriaPandaram)
1551—1597 (46 years)

When the city of Kotte fell to Rajasingha 1 in 1562 after
a long drawnout struggle, the Portuguzse abandoned this war torn
place for Colombo, taking with them Dharmapala. The latter
was given a gorgeous palace to livein Colombo, with all the
trappings of a showpiece-king, westernised like a Portuguese king
and spoke Portuguese, while his position was becoming however
worse and worse over the remaining 30 years of his reign, receiving
a pension grant from his masters, supplementing it with a private
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cinnamon trade of his own, with the permission of the king of
Portugal.

Everything was done for this puppet by others. His father
and later on, his uncle as regents looked after the state for him
under the overall control of Portugal. He heard the rumblings
of Kotte wars from the ring side, the Portuguese themselves
managing the military and civil affairs of the country. He was:
a vassal king. His fortune lay on his face and gait which he
inherited from his grandfather; King Bhuvanaikabahu. This
remarkable resemblance made him a favourite of his grandfather
who settled during his ewn lifetime, the question of succession
in Dbarampala’s favour. He was crowned king ‘in 1543 in a
strange manner whilé Bhuvanaikabahu VII was himself alive, eight
years in advance of Dharmapala’s physical ascension to the
throne. Dharmapala did not.stir for a moment from - his' abode
for this most important event -of his'life his coronation taking
place, in absentia, in a far away country across “the ocean.

A golden effigy of his and his crown were taken to Lisbon and
crowned in the presence of the nobles of Portugal, with much eclat.

A General of Kotte, Salappu Aratchi was sent with the effxgy
to pay honours from Ceylon and represent perhaps the army of
Kotte at this coronation. Dharmapala had not yet become a
Catholic, therefore a Brahmin priest by name Radharaksha Pandita,
accompamed the effigy to do perhaps native Brahminical rites and
give a Ceylonese touch to the coronation ceremony in Lisbon.
He became a Catholic as late as seven years after his accession
‘to the throne. He was left behind for a longer period as a Buddhist
by his Portuguese mentors for a political purpose, to equate him
in the eyes of the people as a Buddhist king with his rival to the
throne, his grand uncle Mayadunna, who was a champion of
Buddhism.

When he was baptised in 1557. his uncle Tamitta and other
relations and people’ of Kotte followed the roval example by
themselves becoming Catholics. (LXXVII):— “And from this day
the women of the principal people of Cotta, also those of the
lower caste for the sake of Portuguese gold, began to turn
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Christian and lived with the Portuguese, and the priests of the
Buddha repaired to Sitavaka and Kandi’® (Rajavali P 291 quoted).
Before Dharmapala’s conversion the people of Ceylon along the
coast from Puttalam to Dondra had already become Catholics.
Dharmapala had “heart and soul faith’ in his pew religion. Sitavaka
kingdom became a part of his empire on Rajasingha’s death (1593).
He was popular with the people chicfly because of his royal blood
and pleasing to the Portuguese whom he stooged, therefore on his
death in 1597, a grand funeral service took place for him. He left
a will called the “Donation of Dharmapala’® written 17 years before
his death by which instrument the whole kingdom of Kotte passed
under the Portuguese empire. This was the end of the Kotte
kingdom. Dharmapala was the last of the Chola line of Kotte kings.

Rajasingha vs. Konappu Bandara, the
founder of the second Kandyan kingdom

After the failure of his first siege of Colombo in 1581, Raja-
singha derived some consolation by turning his attention to Kandy,
and defeating the Kandyan king Karaliyadde Bandara at the battle
of Balana Pass with the help of a Chieftain of Peradeniya,
Virasundera Bandara, who turned traitor to his own king.

Karaliyadde Bandara fled with his queen to Trincomalee where
they died of smallpox. Their nephew Yamasingha (later Don
Philip} took Dona Catherina to the safety of Puviraja Pandatram’s
court in Jaffha (N 160), from where the Portuguése removed
them to Mannar to be brought up in a monastery of Franciscan
Friars. LXXVIII (quotes Rajavali 307):—~ ‘Rajasingha defeated
Jayaweera king of Kandy (Karaliyadde) and pursued him through
Dumbarapattoo until he took refuge in the jungle near Jaffna,
but Dharmapala went to his assistance at the head of an army
consisting of Portuguese and Sinhalese soldiers, disembarked
at Mannar, wens to Jaffna and brought away the king and his
court, his queen and his daughter. On their way the Raja and
the Queen died of smallpox, and the court and princess (Dona
Catherina) remained in Mannar where she was educated by the
Franciscan Friars’’ TR
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Between the capture of Kandy and his final siege of Colombo,
people had become war weary and showed disaffection towards
their king. Virasundera, suspected of treason was executed by
Rajasingha, Buddhist monks who were suspected of conspiring
with the Portuguese received condign punishment. Rajasingha
wurned his back on Buddhism and embraced Hinduism.

CV 1I, P 225 :- “Rajasingha addressed this question to the
Buddhist priesthood. “How can I undo the crime of my father’s
murder ? They answered, “To undo the committed crime is im=
possible’’. The adherents of Siva said it was possible, wkich he
received like ambrosia, smeared his body with ashes and adopted
the religion of Siva'’.

Konappu Bandara, son of Virasundera Bandara, on the
execution of his father, fled from Kandy to Colombo with grief
and vengeance in his heart, got into the good graces of the
Portuguese by changing his religion to Catholicism and adopting
the Portuguese grand title *‘Don Juan of Austria’’, entered
their army and took a distinguished part in the dsfence of
Colombo against Rajasingha’s siege.

Defeat in the battle for Colombo, increased the despair of the king
and added fuel to the bitterness of the people. Udarata revolted.
Under these favourable circumstances, the Portuguesc fitted up an
army under their intrepid general Konappu Bandara, who met and
defeated Rajasingha at the battle of Ganatenne (Kukulbittrawelle
near Kadugannawa Pass ), captured Kandy and put on the throne
Don Philip on the orders of his Portuguese masters, against his
own secret ambition to gain the throne. Philip died soon after
under suspicious circumstances probably brought about by the
machination of Konappu, whereupon the Portuguese tried to put
Philip’s son Don Joao on the throne. Konappu Bandara prevented
this by damaging the Portuguese garrison of Kandy at Gannoruva,
the Portuguese thereupon retreating tamely to Mannar.

Konappu proclaimed himself king of Kandy under the
Sinhalese name of Vimaladharma Suriya I, returning back to his
traditional religion, Buddhism. The Portuguese, in bitterness,
persisted in their hostile policy against Konappu Bandara by putting
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on the throne Dona Catherina in defiance of Vimaladharma,but
this attempt was foiled by the defeat of the Portuguese again at
the second battle of Gannoruva. by Vimaladharma who further
secured his position safe on the throne by marrying Dona
Catherina, ‘“to give his reign a semblance of legitimacy’’.

Vimaladharma: became ever after the sworn enemy of the
Portuguese over ten years of his reign. He kept them at bay. and
away from Kandy. He was the saviour, of the Kandyan kingdom
from Portuguese domination. He was succeeded in 1605 by his
cousin Senerat. :
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IX

THE KANDYAN KINGDOM

The Kandyan Kingdom is of a complex nature. Its narrative is
therefore simplified here by dividing it into three periods. Portuguese
and Dutch involvements are omitted, as they do not come within ‘the
scope of this book.

Taz first Kandyan kingdom 1540 - 1593 (53 years)

An offshoot of the Kingdom of Kotte founded as an independent
state by Vikramabahu Senasammata whose origin is not known but
said to be a near relative of the Kotte king (P - P 60), the Kotte
king at this time being Bhuvanaikabahu VII, belonging to the Chola
line of Sinhalese kings.

Karaliyadde Bandara (Don Jchn 13582).

The next ruler on record was Karaliyadde Bandara followed by
his daughter Maha-Biso-Bandara (Dona Catherina), both baptised
already as Catholics and were under Portuguese protection.
Rajasingha defeated Karaliyadde Bandara at the battle of Balana-
Pass (1582) and chased him through Dumbarapattu until he took
refuge in the jungle near Jaffna, but Don Juan Dharmapala, king
of Kotte went to his rescue with an army of Portugu=se and Sinhalese
soldiers. He set sail from Colombo, disembarked at Mannar, went
to Jafina and brought away the king, his court, his queen and
daughter. On tkeir way the Raja and his queen died of smallpox,
and the court and princess Dona Catherina remained in Mannar,
{Rajavali and LXXVII[). N - P 160;- ‘“Before the king died he
entrusted his daughter to his nephew Yamasinha who after taking
her to Jaffna left her under the guardianship of the Jaffna king
Puviraja Pandaram II. She was sent later to Mannar where she
was b ought upin Catholicism in a Franciscan monastery. She,
like her king Vimaladbarma spoke Portuguese fluently, lived, dressed
and dined in the Portuguese fashion (P -P 96). She was estranged
from Senerat for some private reasons, and died a penitent Christian
(P - P 10:).

Rajasingha 1 (1582 — 1593).

Defeated finally by Konappu Bandara. Th: first Kandyan

kingdom terminates with his death.
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Second Kandyan kihgdom (Peradeniya dynhsty) 1594 - 1739 : 145 years

(i) Vimaladharma Suriya, I (Konappu Bandara), son of
Virasundara Bandara of Peradeniya (1594 - 1604 - 10 years),
mounted the throne after his defeat of Rajasingha I, at
the battle of Ganatenne. :

(ii) Senerat, a brother or cousin of the above and a samanera
(1605 - 1635) - 30 years.

(iii) Rajasingha II (1635 - 1687 ) 52 years.

(iv) Vimaladharma Suriya 11 (1687 - 1706), son of Rajasingha If
19 years

(v) Narendra Singha (1706 — 1739) 33 years. Son of the above.
The mothers of IV and V were Nayakkar ' queens
from Madura. <

Third Kaodyan kingdom - Nayakkar period (f’739 - 1796) 57 years.
THE NAYAKKARS.

««Although this new dynasty is spoken of, under the generic
term of Malabar, it is necessary to observe that they were mnot
of the Tamil race, who had been the ancient invaders and enemies
of Ceyion, but Telugus, of the royal family of Madura with
whom the Sinhalese kings had intermarriage’’. (T II 61 Fn 3)

_ Origin in India of the Nayakkars
Ref:-Nilakanta Sastri, History of South India (1955) PP 211 —255.

The Nayakkars arose first in the Telugn (Kakatiya) kingdom in
the south east of India when its King Rudradeva (¢ 1295) reformed
the administration by dividing his kingdom into 77 (nadus) or Naya-
kships each under a Nayakkar ruler. When in about 1323 Rudra-
deva’s kingdom was overrun by the Muslims, some of these
Nayakkars and their successors played a heroic role in their resistance
to Muslim rule, later sharing equally with the Kannadas, the task of
build ng up the powerful Karnataka - Telugu Hindu empire (Vijaya-
nagara), hostile to Islam. One of the greatest Nayakkars was the
formidable warlord and king of Vijayanagara, Krishnarayadeva
(1509), son of the imperial general Narasa Nayakka (1491) who
happened to have invaded successfully Tamul regions of the south,
including Jaffna.
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The Vijayanagara Empire followed the Kakatiya model in
appointing Nayakkars as sub rulers of the scattered districts of their
vast empire, like the Nayakkars of Madura, Tanjore, Gingee,
Vellore etc. ;2

After the annexation of the Madura sultanate to the Vijayanagara
empire by Kumara Kampana II,son of Emperor Bukku in about 1371,
Nayakkar rule was set up also in Madura which somehow or other
survived the fall of its parent, the Vijayanagara empire, and
maintained its indpendence with the assistance of political tactics and
other fortunes, up to the 18th century. The Nayakkars may have

lended with the Tamils of Madura, that was how the Nayakkars of
Kandy were Tamil Sp’eaking It was during this period of transition '
that the Tamil officers when displaced by Telugu personnel, left
India in frustration and seitled down in Jaffna.

The four Nayakkar kings of Kandy.

(i) Sri Vijayarajasingha (1739 - 1747) 8 years. Brother of the
queen of Narendrasingha who died without issue or brothers.

(if) Kirti Sri Rajasingha (1747 - 1782) 35 years, brother-in-law
of Vijayarajasingha. r

(iii) Rajadhi Rajasingha (1782 - 1798) 16 years, brother of Kirti
Sri Rajasingha.

(iv) Sri Wickramarajasingha (1798 - 1815) 17 years, a nephew of
Rajadhi Rajasingha’s queen.

All were pure Tamils. It may be noticed that Nayakkars had
appropriated to themselves the sole power to change the traditional
rules of succession to suit their own convenience from brother-in-
law to brother-in-law of the reigning king.

Preamble

Two fundamental principles of Kandyan politics governed the
selection of a candidate to the throne of the capital.

Firstly - Profession of Buddhism.

. Secondly - Possession of the blue blood of royalty. These two
- demands have got to be fully satisfied before the election was
completed. The aspirants to the throne of Kandy in the 18th
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and 19th centuries were such candidates whose birth did not give
them, that much assurance as was demanded. They therefore
_artificially improved their status and position in relation to the
throne by making use of these two demands of the people to
their own advantage as props to climb up the steps to the throne.

|. Buddhism

Catholic and Hindu rulers were forced to give up their own
religious faiths to satisfy this first requirement. They were not
only to become Buddhists but were compelled by circumstances
to display to the people their belief in Buddhism by taking part
in Buddhist activities in a conspicuous manner.

1. Vimaladharmasuriya I - discarded the Portuguese and
Catholic high sounding name and tit'e of Don Juan of Austria,
«sand abjured Christianity to secure the support of the priesthood
. and availing himself of the faith of the nation in the sacred
tooth relic of the Buddha, installed it in its newly built Dalada
'‘Maligawa as a palladium of-the mnation, the possession of which
was inseparable from royalty’” (T II P 22).

II. Senerat - He had no religious problems as he bad been
a samanera himself before accession to the throne.

III. Rajasingha II - Son of the previous king and his two
brothers were educated by Franciscan friars who taught them
the accomplishments of European princes of the age (P - P 101),
He could write, read and speak the Portuguese language. Owing
to this mixed education he was personally a sceptic and infidel
and rejected the ordinances of Buddhism (LXXX), favoured
Christianity (P - P 101) and unpopular with the subjects (P - P 142).
After the people’s carly revolt, he changed his capital from
Senkadagala to Nilambe and thence moved to Hanguranketa (P-143).
From public policy _he however permitted full sway to the
practices of Buddhism.

1V. Vimaladharmasuriya II - Son of Rajasinha II and the
_Jatter’s grandson Narendra Rajasinha followed as successors, but
being indifferent to everything except the revival of Buddhism,



77

they gladly accorded peace to the Dutch who in return placed
ships at their disposal, to bring from Arakan, Burmese priests
for the upasampada (TV II, 61). This king sent an embassy to
Siam (1697) and is said to have built a three-storeyed temple
for the Tooth Relic at Kandy (H. P. 96)

V. Narendrasinha - is also known by the place name of
Kundasale, because he loved and lived most of the time here.
Cy. II P 241 gives the eulogistic appellation to him as Sirivira-
parakkamanarendrasiha, the length of his name is a measure of
his popularity with the priests for the support of the Buddhist
church, and with the people to whom he gave peace and plenty
by keeping in good terms with the Dutch. The latter gave him
occasional presents to keep him in good humour (Cv II 245).

VI. Vijayarajasinha - was the first Nayakkar king with no
trace of Sinhalese blood in his veins, a brother of Narendra’s
queen, Narendra dying without a son or brother to succeed him. He
had to make good his deficiencies and weakness in position by adopt-
ing many devices to please the people. He was a pure Hindu
and Tamil and a perfect stranger to the country, therefore his
accession did not pass undisputed. A strong party (Cv 1I, 246)
at the court supported the claims of Unambuva, a son of
Narendra by a concubine, who hewever made things ultimately
easier for the state by volumiarily renouncing his claim. To please
his subjects he took the Sinhalese name of Sri Vijayarajasinha
and the Sinhalese place name Hanguranketa. He and his mahesis
from Madura embraced Buddhism. Cv II 246 — «“The mahesis
gave up the false faith to which they had long been atiached
and adopted in the best manner possible the true faith which
confers immortality, worshipping the Tooth relic by day and night
with sacrifices’”’. They also strove to please the Buddhist subjects
by repairing and building temples and vibares, erecting image
houses and conducting peraheras (Hindu in thought and practices)
and by celebrating religious and social festivals, and went further
and made efforts to procure monks thistime from Siam. To
display his new-born zeal for Buddhism, hz expelled the Catholic
priests from Kandy, even ordered the churches of Puttalam and
Chilaw to be destroyed. The Catholics eventually found a home
in Vahakotte (P - Pp 166 - 167).
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I Royal blood stock

Possession of royal blue blood, native or foreign, Sinhalese
or Tamil, was as precious as ringing go'd in the estimation of
the Sinhalese people, preferably if that belonged to ruling houses.
There happened to be a shortage of royal blood in Lanka
during this period. The people had already lost by the Malvana
Convention the right and claim to elect a king of their own
nation when Kotte passed under the realm of Philip I of Portu-
gal in 1597, the last of the royal native blood was Dharmapala.
The last traces of royal blood also disappeared from Kandy with
the demise of Dona Catherina in about 1605. The rulers there—
fore were forced to go to the nearest fountain of royal blood,
to the kingdom of Madura, just a repetition of what their first
ancestor Vijaya had done two milleniums “earlier. It is -apt to
quote here Tennent on this point, «“And the acquiescence of the
Sinhalese to the ' rule of the Tamils, is ascribable possibly to
the fact that they recognised to some extent the pretensions of
the Tamils as founded in their relationship to the legitimate
sovereignty of the Island™, (LXII). Casie: Chitty puts it in a
more lucid ‘manner, “The superstitious deference that had always

becn.paid to Tamil blood became at later times an article of
‘political“faith and it bas prevailed to the latest period of Sinha-

lese sovercignty.” (Casie Chitty’s Gazetteer P 229).

Vimaladharmasuriya I had in normal circumstances established
his claim to the throne by force of arms, defeating his predecessor
Rajasinha I, he was also besides, a scion of a royal family, but these
qualifications were found to be substandard because of the petty
chieftainship of his father. In order to strengthen his claim, he
married Dona Catherina. an ido! of the Kandyan people and the

last of the royal house of Kandy. Senerat, his cousin - brother
married the queen dowager Dona Catherina to altain the same

end. Senerat went further to secure the kingdom to his sons by
marrying Rajasingha IT a son by Dona Catherina, to Madura
princesses, the other two sons to' Jaffna princesses ' (N. 206).
Rajasingha’s son Vimaladharmasuriya II. and his grand son
Narendrasinha followed the royal tradition of marrying Nayakkar
princesses.
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gt

Néyakkar kings

t

In Culavamsa 1I, page 241, special mention is made of the
high respect and honour paid to Madura royalty. «In order to
protect the royal dignity in Lanka, Natendrasinha fetched princesses
from the town of Madura and made them his first mahesis’
which stresses that the salvation, prosperlty and digaity of h
realm of Kandy lay in marriage connections with the royal house
ot Madura, and the exalted position in which the Tlatter was
held in the-estimation of the people of Ceylon. Again, <«to
est tablish his own dynasty (CII 246) Vijayarajasinha fetched prin-
cesses from the town of Madura and made them the chief Mahesis’ |

1. Vijayarajasinha being a full blooded royal personage, could
havé stood solély on his own rights and claimed the throne of Kandy
but it appears he fetched his queens from Madura in order to reinforce
the Nayakkar dynasty in Ceylon with a fresh infusion of such blood

2. Kirti Sri Rajasingha, brother-in-law of Vijaya Rajasingha bad
.. come to the court of Kandy with his sister as a young boy and wus
educated in Buddhism and therefore was a convert to Buddhism by
conviction and passionately attached to it. He ascended the throne
when he was aged 14, the affairs of the state were managed in his
youth by two able chiefs, Dumbara and Mampitiya. During the reign
of Narendra (1701) the institution of Sangha along with Upasampada
(ordination of priests) had completely died out and in its place,a
short lived new order called Ganinnanse (Sarathchandra P 7) arose,
who were not celebate and did not dress in orthodox monks’ robes
but lived in temples covering the role of monk and pnest
A scholarly samanera by name Velivita Saranankara who lived at
this time enjoying the patronage of Kirti Sri, had lot of influence
with the king. Saranankara who remained very long as a samanera,
because there were no Mahanayaka Theros in Ceylon to carry out
the upasampada for him, persuaded Kirti Sri to get down chief
priests from Siam to revive the Sangha. Twenty priests were
broughtin 1753 from Siam in vessels obligingly loaned out by the
Dutch, who were at this time friendly with the Kandyans and who
both together, were against Catholic proselytism. Kirti Sri got into
trouble over the ceremonial arrival of the Siam Nikaya, as some of
the Kandyan chieftains felt jealous and ashamed thata foreign
Nayakkar king should have inaugurated this celebrated event, and
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that his Hindu relatives should be lording over a Buddhist country,
and plotted to do away with Kirti Sri Rajasingha from the throne.
The revolt was however quashed. Saranankara was now ordained
priest by the Siamese Mahanayakas and was made Sangarajah of
Ceylon. So, Kirti Sri, a Tamil and Saranankara Sangharajah were
jointly responsible fer the establishment of the present Siamese
Nikayain Kandy. ‘‘The Siamese monks were quite shocked to find
Hindu temples like the Natha, Saman and Vishnu devales in the
capital of a Buddaist country. The insignia of the gods were
carried in procession and peraheras with pomp znd majesty,
introduced by Sri Vijaya Razjasingha while the Buddhist temples
were neglected, Buddhist ordination extinct and. religion decaying.
To satisfy these theros, Kirti Sri Rajasingha directed that henceforih
the insignia of the Dalada and some Buddhist emblems should have
the place of the honour in the Perahera ( P - 167 & 195 ).

3. Rajadirajasinha-He had come to Ceylon also in his boyhood,
his breeding and education therefore wore Kandyan and Sinhalese.
The English took over forcibly the Dutch possessions in Ceylon
during his reign.

4. Sri Wickramarajasinha (C VII 302) - “He is described as a
tyrant in the Culavamsa. He embraced Buddhism and did sacrifices
to the Tooth Relic.”’ All the above four and their mahesis were
of pure Nayakkar blood frem Madura, and all these kings and
queens were Buddhist converts.
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LOW COUNTRY AND KANDYAN SINHALESE

When Kandy separated from the Kotte kingdom in the 15th
century under Bhuvanaikabahu VI, this secession connoted merely
a politico-geographical division. People of both kingdoms belong-
ed to the same ethnic group. The first king of Kandy, Vikrama-
babu Senasammata was a near relative of the Chola line of Sin-
halese kings (P - P 60). Mayadunne obtained a Kandyan princess
as his wife through Vikramabahu. Marriages were contracted
between both royal houses.  Bhuvanikabahu VIII for instance
married a Gampola princess. Karaliyadde Bandara and his daughter
Maha-Biso-Bandara, even Virasundara Bandara and Konappu Ban-
dara probably belonged to the Bandara stock of Kotte.

Some historians are of the view that the Kandyan people
kept aloof and apart from the Low country Sinhalese puffed up
with pride and with a sense of contumely, solely by virtue of
their supposed superiority in valour and power of resistance with
which European powers were kept at bay from Kandyan soil for
a much Jonger period. While it’s so to an extent, it should not
be overlooked that it was Mayadunne and Rajasinghe of Kotte,
who in the initial onslaughts, tired the Portuguese in a series of
galiant battles for 64 years from 1524. Vikramabahu I, the first
king of Kandy was one of the foremost to submit to Catholicism
and ally himself with the Portuguese in spite of remonstrances
from Bhuvenaikabahu of Kotte not to do so. It is the range
of Kandyan hills that secured all the defence for the Kandyan
people. The gradual divergence and detachment between the Low
country and Upcountry people were due to some other mewly
arisen circumstances enumerated betow. Two newly arrived powers,
both foreign to Ceylon, tended to pull apart and asunder the
Low country people from the Kandyan Sinhalese, the Portuguese
influences working on the side of the inhabitants of the Low
country and the adjacent littoral, and the tug of the Dravidian
social structure on the Karndyans.
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Low country Sinhalese

These were inhabitants of the coastal area and adjacent
plains of the south western area of Ceylon from Puttalam _to
Dondra, a separate social group geographically called “Low
country Sinhalese’’. (B. H. Farmer Ceylon 1963, P 20) states,
“one of the most far reaching ethnic effects of Portuguese intervention
in Ceylon was the beginning of the process of differentiation between
Low country and Kandyan Sinhalese. Low country people inha-
bited the territory which was under direct control of the Portuguese
from Chilaw to Matara (wet zone). The Kandyan Sinhalese on
the other hand were those living in lands the Portuguese never
held (dry zone). The social system of the Kandyans therefore
was unaffected by European contact and they despised the Low
country people as corrupted by the West, considering therefore,
themselves as guardians of Buddhism and the Tooth Relic. “Low
country Sinhalese were drawn by the Portuguese and their succ-
essors into the main stream of world commerce (Farmer P 19).

Portuguese culture and Catholicism

i, Most of the Low country Sinhalese had already been Catho-
lics at the time Dharmapala, his uncle Tamitta and other
nobles embraced Catholicism in 1557. Their example gave furtker
stimulus to the Catholic movement. During Dharmapala’s long
reign of 54 years frem 1543, the customs and manner of the
natives turned to Portuguese fashion. Food habits included beef
and pork eating, ladies were attired in blouses and petti-
coats, sometimes with hats and shoes en, houses built on Portu-
guese architectural designs with verandahs and inner courd
yards to give more ventilation, light and coolness, furnished with
western furniture like almirahs with drawers, chairs and tables etc.

ii. Portuguese words were integrated into Sinhalese language like
sapattu (shoe), kamisa (shirt), alpeniti (pin), lensua (handker—
chief,) tinta (ink), kadadasi (paper), pan (bread), viduru (glass)
annasya (pineapple), janeliya (window), and so on and so forth.

jii. Integration of the Karava caste into the Sinhalese race gave
| fresh impetus to these new tendencies and changes. The
' Karavas let loose from the moorings of Hinduism were caught
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in time into the net of Portuguese culture through Catho-
licism ‘before bzing entirely enmeshed into the intricacies of
the social structure of the Sinhalese race’’. Karava titles llkc‘ s
Mudianses, Mohottiars, Aratchies and Mudaliyars WEF?]n—I
corporated into the Sinbalese ranks. The people gave pre-
ference to Portuguese names like Fernando, de Fonseka,
de Silva, Perera and host of other similar names all in use
at present. B. H. Farmer Ceylon P 19:- «They took these
Portuguese names partly no doubt because of the prestige
thereby acquired, partly to conceal castc which is nearly al-
ways given away by traditional names.’ '

Kandyan Sinhalese

Two new separate forces arising under different circumstances
crept into the Kandyan kingdom one following the other, during
the reigns respectively of kings Senerat and his son by Dona
Catherina, Rajasingha II. These two forces were ;-

i. The influx of Tamil power and iofluences into the Kandyan
court.

ii. The rise of a new Kandyan atistorcracy built up by the Kandyan
chieftains, under a. Tamil dynasty.

It was mainly the conflict between this aristocracy and Dra-
vidian power which brought about eventually the downfall of the
Kandyan kingdom.

Dravidian influences in Kandy

Senerat who succeeded his, cousm Vimaladharma Suriya (Don
Juan) streng.hened his position to the throne of Kandy by marrying
like the latter, the queen Dowager, Dona Catherma. hlghcst symbol of
Kandyan nobility. Senerat went further to strengtben the position
of his sons, by marrying them to. princesses of ruling houses
sather than to ordinary Sinhalese princesses, in order perhaps to
equate them to the high status of Dona. Catherina. Rajasingha 1I
was marned to Madura princesses . while the other two sons,
Kumarasmgha and Vljayaoala, queen’s sons by her first marriage,
were married to Jaffna princesses (N. 206).
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This new adjustment laid the first foundation for Tamil influence
in Kandy. Rajasinghe’s son Vimaladharma Suriya I married a
Nayakkar princess, his mother also was a Nayakkar. The kings
thereafter became with the passage of time, more and more Nayakkar
in blcod. Rajasinghe II, Kumarasingha and Vijayapala all had
been educated by Franciscan friars, who taught them the accomp-
lishments of the European princesof the age (P-101).

Vimaladharma Suriya II's son was Narendrasingha who
married Sumitra, again a Nayakkar princess. When this king died
without issue, his brother-in-law, Sri Vijaya Rajasingha ascended
the throne in 1739. He was the first pure Tamil king, a Hindu,Tamil
in spcech and a perfect stranger to his new subjects and surroundings.
The last four kings of Kandy were pure Tamils. Sri Vijaya
Rajasingha’s brother-in—laws, Kirti Rajasingha and Rajadhi
Rajasingha succeeded one afier the other, because there was no issue
to Sri Vijaya Rajasingha,

The last king of Kandy was Sri Wickrama Rajasingha
(Kannasamy) a nephew of the queen of Rajadhi Rajasingha. They
all ruled togetker for 76 years. By this time Dravidian cultural
influences had completely engulfed the Kandyan court. The kings
set examples to their subjects in customs and manners. When a
prince or aroyal bride came from Madura to Kandy they did not
come alone. They were accompanied by their parents, brothers and
sisters, kith and kin and a whole heap of retinue, They were
accommodated in mansions in Kumararupe Vidya (present Malabar
street ). Narenappu Nayakkar, father-in-law of Sri Vijaya Rajasin-
gha became the foremost counsellor of the king. Swaminathan and
Hemanathan came from Madura with the queen, as Narendrasingha’s
ministers, (N224). Other Nayakkars held posts of honour for which
they received nindagams. They all introduced new elements of
Dravidian culture. Kings were hedged round by ‘““a foreign
ceremonial code of formalities”™ (P-165), unknown to previous
Sinhalese kings, such as abject prostration by ordinary subjects as
well as by nobles and foreign ambassadors. No one was allowed to
ride a horse or be carried in a palanquin within the royal city.
The Disavas and Ratemahatmayas copied these customs and practised
them among their own smaller circles.
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The subjects followed the king’s example. Processions
(peraheras) pilgrimages and festivals were emphasised. The Kandyan
dance and music was Dravidian in origin. Rajasingha I, a Hindu
king built the present inner shrine at Kataragama (1581). He handed
over the management of Sivanoli - Patham (Sii - Pada) to Hindu
ascetics. He built the granite Bhairavan Koyil in Talduva. Itis
reported that 2,000 men worked at it for 20 years, which as usual
was destroyed by the Portuguese after the royal builder’s death. He
followed the Pattini cult and built over 48 Pattini Koyils.
Rsjasingha II rebuilt the shrine of Koneswaram which was destroyed
by the Portuguese. He was a pious devotee of Skanda, He heard
of the miracles connected with Muttulingasamy and rebuilt the
Kataragama temple in about 1635, out of veneration for these holy
events.

Kirti Sri Rajasingha rebuilt that part of Munneswaram temple
destroyed by the Portuguese and executed deeds of grants of land to
this temple.  The annual Kandy p:rahera was more in the nature
of a Hindu festival with the taking round of only Hindu deities,Natha,
Vishnu, Skanda, Saman and Pattini. He also handed back Sri-pada
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